University of Windsor

Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

11-7-2015

Pre-service Educational Assistants' Attitudes Toward Inclusion

John Freer University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Freer, John, "Pre-service Educational Assistants' Attitudes Toward Inclusion" (2015). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 5494.

https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/5494

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

Pre-service Educational Assistants' Attitudes Toward Inclusion By John Freer

A Thesis
Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies
through the Faculty of Education and Academic Development
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for
the Degree of Master of Education
at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada 2015

© 2015 John Freer

Pre-service Educational Assistants' Attitudes Toward Inclusion by John Freer

APPROVED BY:

Dr. Debra Hernandez Jozefowicz External Department Reader School of Social Work

Dr. Elizabeth Starr Internal Department Reader Faculty of Education and Academic Development

Dr. Cam Cobb Advisor Faculty of Education and Academic Development

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis and that no part of this thesis has been published or submitted for publication.

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

In recent years, educational assistants have taken on an integral role in special education. They often work with the most challenging and vulnerable student population. To prepare EAs, some of Ontario's publicly funded colleges have developed pre-service programs. In Ontario, the number of students receiving special education services in K-12 is increasing, and policy trends are advocating for educational inclusion. Literature has suggested that educators' attitudes toward educational inclusion may impact the extent to which inclusive strategies are implemented. Despite the importance of EAs in the special education team, very few studies have investigated their attitudes toward inclusion. This study investigates pre-service EAs' attitudes toward educational inclusion through the use of semi-structured interviews. Through these interviews, participants pointed out factors they believed could facilitate inclusion, as well as perceived barriers to inclusion. Recommendations are made for future policy, practice, and research based on three themes that emerged from the data.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my parents Nancy and Randy Freer for working tirelessly with me as a child in order to spark my love for learning. This spark was not ignited easily, but they never gave up on me! I would also like to dedicate this thesis to my fiancé Raquel Rawlings who helped to feed that fire by always believing in me and encouraging me to achieve my goal of becoming an educator. Lastly, I would like to dedicate this thesis to my past and future students in hopes that this fire for teaching and learning will continue to grow.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Masters of Education at the University of Windsor has been an engaging and challenging process. Fortunately, I have had an excellent support system to which I owe a great debt of gratitude.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my thesis committee. I am sincerely grateful for the support Dr. Cam Cobb has provided me with as my thesis advisor. From early morning coffee meetings to late night emails, he always made himself available to me. His feedback throughout the thesis process was thought provoking and helped to enhance the overall quality of my educational experience. I would also like to express gratitude to my internal department reader, Dr. Elizabeth Starr and my external reader, Dr. Hernandez-Jozefowicz. I truly appreciated their commitment to academic rigor and their detailed feedback helped to enhance the clarity of my writings. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Glenn Rideout for his ongoing support of my educational journey. His academic advising throughout this process has proven to be invaluable.

I would be remised if I did not acknowledge the personal supports that have helped me to persevere. I cannot express enough gratitude to my family and friends who provided endless encouragement and support throughout this process. I have grown to learn that the time I devote to strive for academic excellence also takes a great deal of sacrifice from those that I love. I am fortunate to be surrounded by truly selfless people who want nothing but the best for me. I would like to express a special thank you to my mother for always being a first draft editor, no matter how lengthy or complex the manuscript became.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the importance of peer support throughout this process. I would like to express my thanks to fellow M. Ed. candidate, Brandon Sabourin for his encouragement and teamwork throughout the program of study. I look forward to more collaboration and growth with him in the future. I would also like to thank Kathy Hansen for her mentorship and encouragement. Your commitment to both academia and teaching/learning is impressive and inspiring. Finally, I would like to thank the students who participated in this research study for taking the time to share their experiences with me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
A History of Exclusion	1
Support for a More Inclusive Approach	1
EAs in Special Education	4
Educational Support Programs: Pre-service Education for EAs i	in Ontario5
The Current Study	6
Positionality	7
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	10
Ontario Colleges	10
Educational Assistants (EAs)	13
Educational Inclusion.	19
Attitudinal Research	24
Summary and Rationale for Current Research	33
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	37
Selection Criteria	37
Recruitment	38
Research Design.	39

	Participants	41
	Data Analysis	44
	Ethical Considerations	44
C	CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	46
	April: "Having an EA in every classroom would be amazing!"	47
	Anne: "Inclusion means that you treat everyone with respect and kindness."	59
	Kelly: "We have to continue asking, is this the best thing for this student?"	68
	Grace: "[The ES] program is phenomenal it prepares us to be EAs."	81
C	CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	88
	Theme 1: Applying Inclusion Theory to Practice	89
	Theme 2: EAs: Ambassadors for inclusion	92
	Theme 3: A Prepared Special Education Team	94
	Recommendations for Policy	96
	Recommendations for Practice	.102
	Recommendations for Research	.107
	Limitations	.112
C	CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	117
R	REFERENCES	121
A	APPENDICES	139
	Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire	.140
	Appendix B: Guiding Interview Questions	.142
	Appendix C: Letter of Consent	.144

Appendix D: Letter of Information	146
VITA AUCTORIS	148

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

A History of Exclusion

Special education in Ontario has changed considerably in recent history. Prior to 1980, a great many students with disabilities were excluded from schooling because they were believed to be uneducable (Bennett, Dworet, & Weber, 2013; Brantlinger, 2006). In 1980 a momentous educational reform for special education in Ontario was enacted—Bill 82. As a result of Bill 82, students with exceptionalities were granted the right to a free and public education. For the first time ever, all students with disabilities in Ontario had a right to attend the same school as their peers without disabilities at the public's expense. In the 1980s, the law had changed to grant students with disabilities access to a public education, but the mentality of exclusion had not. For the most part, special education in the 80s consisted of placing students with disabilities into special schools or selfcontained classrooms within publicly funded schools. These classrooms were often categorized by the nature of the students' disability (e.g., cognitive, physical, behavioural, etc.) (Bennett et al., 2013). The major provisions of Bill 82 are now embedded in Regulation 181/98 in Ontario's Education Act. In recent years, there has been growing support for more inclusive practices in special education.

Support for a More Inclusive Approach

Disability and special education advocates of the past 35 years have seen great strides. Special education is transforming from a system of exclusion and categorization into a system of inclusion and accessibility. The current (i.e., 2015) state of special education in Ontario is continuing to evolve. There are many policies and procedures in place to help all students requiring special education programming reach their fullest

potential. Each student with an identified exceptionality has an Identification, Placement, and Review Committee (IPRC) to identify the student as exceptional, place the student in the most appropriate educational setting, and review the progress of the student's special education program. In Ontario, the IPRC is required to meet at least once every school year to review the student's educational placement and is required to consider inclusion in the general education classroom before consideration of alternative educational placements (e.g., self-contained classes) (OME, 2007). In addition, the Ontario Ministry of Education (OME) mandates that an Individual Education Plan (IEP) must be created for all students who are identified as exceptional. The IEP outlines strengths and needs, accommodations, goals/learning expectations, and evaluation criteria for the identified student. This working document (i.e., the IEP) provides direction and a sense of accountability for the team of educators and health professionals involved in the student's educational programming (OME, 2013a).

The Ontario government does not require all students to be included in the general education classroom. IPRCs evaluate identified students on case-by-case basis. In addition, placement decisions can be influenced by school boards' special education philosophies, which in Ontario tend to differ from one school board to the next (Bennett & Gallangher, 2013). For example, the Windsor Essex Catholic District School Board (WECDSB) promotes "full inclusion" regardless of the severity of a student's needs, whereas the Greater Essex County District School Board (GECDSB) provides special education using a *cascade model*, where students are placed in the environment that is deemed least restrictive/most enabling. Despite these philosophical differences, Ontario has seen a push toward inclusive education in the last decade. As a result, a great many

students with exceptionalities are included in general education classes. Inclusionary approaches to special education have become the norm in many countries (Hamaidi, Homidi, & Reyes, 2012; Mittler, 1995). For example, the Salamanca Statement (an international initiative) discusses "The fundamental policy shifts required to promote the approach of inclusive education, namely enabling schools to serve all children, particularly those with special educational needs" (UNESCO, 1994, p. iii). Despite a general push for more inclusive education internationally, the way in which inclusion is defined and implemented differs from one country to the next.

Inclusive practices are being utilized more than ever before, but this practice/philosophy is a controversial one, resulting in differences of professional opinions among stakeholders. Some have asserted that inclusion is a matter of social justice (Artiles, Harris-Murri, & Rostenberg, 2006; Winzer & Mazurek, 2011), whereas, others have pointed out that specialized/segregated classes offer much needed individualized attention for students with special education needs (Kauffman, Bantz, & McCullough, 2002; Simmons & Bayliss, 2007; Wang, 2009). Nevertheless, there has been a great deal of momentum for inclusive special education in recent years.

A team of professionals often works together to implement an individual's special education program, as outlined in the student's IEP. Some of these professionals might include speech-language pathologists, occupational therapists, principals, special education teachers, parents, and educational assistants (EAs). The special education teacher will often develop the IEP in conjunction with the classroom teacher, but central to the implementation of the IEP are the teachers and EAs. Avramidis, Bayliss, & Burden indicated that some of the biggest concerns expressed by teachers in inclusive classrooms

were the need for more support, resources, training, and time (2000). EAs help to address some of these concerns. With the help of additional staff, policies, and procedures, special education and inclusion have become an integral part of Ontario's education system.

EAs in Special Education

According to the OME (2015), "in 2013-14 school boards reported that 16.59% of the total student population, or 334,312 students were receiving special education programs and/or services" (slide 5). Fifty-five percent of students receiving special education were identified as exceptional (i.e., 186,492) while 45% were not formally identified. In addition, it was reported that, "approximately 83% of all students...receiving special education programs and/or services are placed in regular classrooms for more than half of the instructional day" (OME, 2015). In order to promote student success and meet the growing needs of Ontario's inclusive milieu in special education there has been an influx of EAs being employed in Ontario schools and elsewhere (Angelides, Constantinou, & Leigh, 2009; Giangreco, Doyle, & Suter, 2012; Groom, 2006; Liston, Nevin, & Malian, 2009; Symes & Humphrey, 2011). In Ontario, this growth is projected to continue into the foreseeable future (MTCU, 2013).

In the literature, EAs are also referred to as educational support staff, educational aides, teachers' assistants, learning support assistants, paraeducators, etc. depending on the geographical context. For example, in American literature, EAs are most commonly referred to as paraeducators. In Ontario, however, these professionals are most commonly referred to as TAs or EAs. Thus for the purpose of this paper, the term EA will be used in place of these and other professional titles. Literature discussed throughout, however,

draws from a variety of countries that use some of these other professional titles.

The job of an EA is an extremely important one. EAs often work directly with students who have exceptionalities to help ensure that these students are working toward achieving the goals set out in their IEP. In many cases, the EA is in contact with the students who have exceptionalities more than any other educational staff member in the school. As a result, EAs can have a tremendous impact on these students' educational and social successes. In fact, Groom and Rose (2005) discovered that several key stakeholders in education identified EAs as central to the success of inclusive education. Some school-aged students without disabilities, however, have reported that EAs serve to further exclude students with disabilities by their mere presence (Katz, Porath, Bendu, & Epp, 2012). Despite these mixed findings, it is believed that with proper pre-service training and ongoing professional development, EAs can enhance inclusive education for all involved.

Educational Support Programs: Pre-service Education for EAs in Ontario

In recent years, Educational Support (ES) college diploma programs (previously referred to as Educational Assistant programs) have been developed and are now offered across Ontario at publicly funded colleges. These programs help to prepare prospective EAs for their future role in the special education team. The program name has changed from EA to ES because of a program standard that was developed by the Ministry of Training, Colleges, and Universities (MTCU, 2012a). This program standard has helped to guide the curriculum of the programs across the province. The EA/ES programs are relatively new in publically funded Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technologies (CAATs). For example, St. Clair College in Windsor, Ontario started an EA program

(now ES program) in 2006, with their first graduating class awarded EA diplomas at convocation in June of 2008. Through my searching strategies, utilizing keywords such as: CAAT, 'educational support programs', 'educational assistant programs', Ontar*, etc., I have not found any research on these EA/ES programs offered at CAATs across the province. It is imperative, however, that pre-service EAs' perspectives are represented in the literature. Once they begin their careers as EAs they will play an integral role in the future of special education in Ontario and beyond. In addition, the knowledge and skills obtained within these programs may profoundly impact pre-service EAs' educational philosophies and beliefs.

While the pre-service EA programs in Ontario are relatively new, the United States (US) has been concerned with EA training programs for quite some time. In fact, twenty years ago, Morgan, Hofmeister, and Ashbaker (1995) identified over thirty preservice EA programs across the US. In addition, the No Child Left Behind Act and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA) in the US recognizes the importance of proper training for EAs. In England pre-service educational assistant programs play an important role in professional status. EAs can take additional coursework to become a Higher Level Teaching Assistant (HLTA) (Burgess & Mayes, 2009). Like similar programs in other settings, the new ES programs offered in Ontario CAATs may influence prospective EAs' professional development and the overall quality of their work.

The Current Study

The literature has suggested that educators' attitudes towards inclusion can greatly impact the extent to which inclusionary practices are applied (Avramidis, et al., 2000;

Avramidis & Norwich, 2002; Lawson, Parker, & Sikes, 2006). This correlation makes EAs' lived experiences and resulting attitudes toward inclusion all the more valuable to study. Through this narrative research inquiry, I investigate pre-service EAs' attitudes towards inclusion through the utilization of semi-structured interviews. Participants were asked to reflect upon their own experiences and resulting attitudes towards inclusive education. Engaging in this reflective activity allowed participants the opportunity to better understand themselves, their attitudes, and how this may influence their praxis. The way in which pre-service EAs view themselves personally and professionally may profoundly impact their attitudes towards inclusion. Consequently this may influence their future role in special education implementation. The purpose of this study was to gain insight into pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. Specifically, I investigated final year ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion. This included second year students in a two-year ES program and students in a one-year intensive ES program at a CAAT in Ontario. The research question was: What are final year ES students' attitudes toward inclusion?

Positionality

When I was in the fifth grade I was diagnosed with epilepsy. I struggled in school because of my disability and medication side effects. Thankfully my family and a few great educators believed in me. As such, they put forth extra effort to help enhance my academic experience. Inspired by my personal experiences, I enrolled in a newly established EA program in 2007 at St. Clair College in Windsor, Ontario. I graduated from the program in 2009 with a new appreciation for education in general and for special education in particular. Shortly thereafter, I began working for a school board in

southwestern Ontario as an occasional (i.e., supply or substitute) EA. While working as an EA I completed my Honours degree in Disability Studies and my Bachelor of Education degree at the University of Windsor.

Through these experiences I have embraced the social model of disability and adopted an inclusive educational philosophy. Critical disability theory challenges traditional paradigms of disability that serve to systematically oppress people with disabilities (e.g., the medical model of disability). The social model of disability—a branch of critical disability theory—states that disability is a societal flaw due to barriers, not a flaw within the person (Oliver, 1996). Barriers are not only physical (e.g., stairs with no ramp option), but attitudinal barriers also exist that are often invisible. People with disabilities have historically been, and currently are subjected to prejudices, stereotypes, and discrimination. This poor treatment of people with disabilities has recently been referred to as ableism or disableism (Harpur, 2012). Storey (2007) defines ableism as "The belief that it is better or superior not to have a disability than to have one and that it is better to do things in the way that nondisabled people do" (p. 56). My philosophy of educational inclusion recognizes that inclusion is a social justice issue and asserts that students have a right to be included with their peers in educational settings (Artiles et al., 2006).

After completing my honours degree in 2012, I started working as a part-time instructor in the same EA program I once attended as a student. The program has since changed its name to an ES program. I am currently the coordinator of this program on a part-time basis and a sessional instructor in the same Disability Studies program I once attended as a student. I will take over as the full-time coordinator of the ES program in

August of 2015. As a result of my personal, vocational, and educational experiences, I have developed a passion for special education. I acknowledge that my experiences and attitudes may bias my interpretation of participants' responses in this study. I also want to point out, however, that having been an EA/ES student, instructor, and coordinator will give me a great vantage point to better understand the participants' experiences.

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The topics central to this narrative research inquiry are: Ontario colleges, EAs, inclusion, and attitudes. A brief review of these four constructs is necessary in order to fully contextualize and engage with the present study. These four topics will be discussed in a general fashion and in relation to the current research inquiry.

This review of the literature begins with a discussion of publicly funded colleges in Ontario. In this section a brief history of the Ontario college system is presented. In addition, current practices at CAATs are discussed. The next section presents current research on EAs. The need for EAs, their changing roles, and training implications are discussed. Following this is a discussion about inclusive education. The concept of inclusion is discussed and the academic, as well as social implications of inclusive education are addressed. Lastly, literature concerning attitudinal research is presented. Theories of attitude are discussed and pre-service teachers' attitudes, as well as EAs' attitudes toward inclusion are examined. Particular attention is given to the literature on in-service EAs because of the lack of studies investigating pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. Finally, gaps and problems in the extant literature will be discussed.

Ontario Colleges

Ontario colleges are distinctly different from other post-secondary institutions nearby (i.e., Ontario's universities and American community colleges). The history and evolution of Ontario colleges will be briefly described in order to offer a greater understanding of the educational context under which ES programs operate.

Publicly funded colleges in Ontario: CAATs. Higher education in Ontario consists of colleges and universities—two distinctly different post-secondary institutions.

Generally, colleges focus more on specific employability skills and the application of knowledge, whereas universities have a tendency for a more theoretical focus with an emphasis on research. The history of colleges in Canada is much more recent than that of universities. In fact, colleges did not become widespread in Canada until the 1960s and 70s (Dennison, 1995). In the 1960s, provincial governments recognized the need for a different kind of post-secondary education and thus, many Canadian colleges were born. Offering college education options alongside university options has helped to democratize higher education by making post-secondary education more accessible for those who cannot afford, get accepted, or fare well in university settings (Arvast, 2008). Prior to the advent of colleges, high school graduates either went to university or entered the workforce. Initially, Canadian colleges emerged out of technical and vocational schools of the time (Skolnik, 2010). It has been said that the Canadian college system is one of the most diversified systems of colleges in the world, with each province/territory representing a separate system of colleges of its own (Dennison, 1995). I focus specifically on Ontario's system of publicly funded colleges (i.e., CAATs) because the participants of this study attended an ES program at a CAAT in Ontario.

Public colleges in Ontario are grouped together under the classification of CAATs and are governed by the MTCU. There are 24 CAATs across Ontario to meet a growing demand for students seeking a college education throughout the province. In fact, according to Colleges Ontario (2014), the 24 CAATs offer over 600 different programs. More programs are developed each year to prepare graduates for the ever-evolving and currently volatile job market. As a result, colleges play an important role in shaping the political and economical milieu of the province (Dennison, 1995). It is for this reason that

CAATs rely heavily on community partnerships. Each program establishes a Program Advisory Committee (PAC) (Litwin, 2012). The PACs are often made up of employers from their respective fields in order to ensure the curricula address the cutting edge of industry standards. This allows college programs to adapt to the most up-to-date industry innovations and helps to prepare students with the most current skills necessary for their field. Community collaboration is an important part of Ontario's system of colleges.

At its inception, Ontario colleges had a vision exclusively for technical education, whereas some other provinces (e.g., British Columbia and Alberta) opted to combine general and technical education (Skolnik, 2010). The landscape of Ontarian colleges, however, is currently in transition. With the passing of the Post-Secondary Education Choice and Excellence Act in 2000, colleges are now permitted to offer degree programs alongside their college diploma programs. This is a growing practice across the province with some colleges now offering degree programs. Grounded in the philosophy of technical education, these degree programs must be applied bachelor degrees (MTCU, 2012b).

Unfortunately, research in Ontario CAATs' programs conducted by college professors is scarce. The research appears especially absent when one considers the vast amount of research done in American college settings (Dennison, 1995; Lowry & Froese, 2001). In recent years, however, research ethics boards have been developed in many Ontarian colleges. There is a need for more applied research within CAAT programs (Fisher, 2006). Unfortunately, there is a major barrier to applied research at the college level. Many of the faculty members are experts in their respective fields with several years of industry experience. These instructors bring a great deal of knowledge and skills

in their given discipline, however, not all teaching faculty possess higher education degrees (e.g., Masters degree, Ph.D., Ed.D., etc.). These faculty, although a great asset to students, often do not have formal training in research ethics and methodologies necessary to take on applied research projects (Litwin, 2012). As an academic faculty member employed at a CAAT, this research endeavour and others like it represent the beginning of an era. This era promises an influx in college professors who possess both scholarly training and practical experiences conducting their own applied research in their respective fields. This research project may help me to better understand ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion and may help to guide my instruction in order to better prepare ES students for Ontario's special education milieu.

Educational Assistants (EAs)

An explanation of the EA profession is essential in understanding the importance of pre-service training for EAs. The EA profession has evolved over time and EAs now play an important role in special education implementation. The role of an EA in the special education team, the need for pre-service training for EAs, and the effectiveness of EAs in special education are considered below.

The EA's role in special education. In the past, the role of an EA was to carry out mundane clerical tasks (e.g., photocopying, organizing, etc.) in order to help the classroom teacher be more efficient (Groom, 2006). Today, EAs play a central role in the implementation of special education services. As the EA profession goes through a dramatic role transformation, growing pains have accompanied these developments.

The literature indicates that there is general role confusion among EAs and teachers, meaning there is uncertainty between teachers and EAs regarding their roles and

job responsibilities. Angelides and colleagues (2009) pointed out that, "this confusion seems to have an impact on inclusive education as the stakeholders should clearly know their duties and obligations" (p. 84). This problem can be exacerbated by ill-defined job descriptions, poor teacher supervision, and a lack of appropriate training.

In a qualitative study, Egilson and Traustadottir (2009) found that the classroom teacher rarely stated EA roles and responsibilities explicitly. Some EAs in the study were asked to delivery instruction and make pedagogical decisions for students without teacher collaboration. EAs are supposed to be taking direction from the classroom teacher because teachers usually have more advanced credentials, but this study observed that EAs were often left to make educational decisions with little supervision. This is problematic because most EAs do not have the formal training to make pedagogical decisions in isolation. It was suggested that clarifying duties among teachers and EAs would enhance the quality and efficiency of special education delivery.

Educators may be experiencing role confusion because EAs have several duties, which change across contexts. Hansen and Jones (2013) discussed this at the Ontario Council for Exceptional Children's (CEC's) provincial conference in a presentation entitled *The Many Hats of the Educational Assistant: Developing an Effective Skill Set.* For example, an EA's duties might include supporting students academically during a math period, supervising students on yard duty, toileting students who are incontinent, feeding students with poor fine motor skills, and a host of other tasks. This may help to explain why there have been so many different professional names across time and cultures for EAs (Pittaway, 2002). It has also been suggested that role confusion may also create difficulty for EAs trying to develop their professional identities (Trent, 2014).

As the EA profession becomes more instructional, there is an increased need for EAs and teachers to work together as a team (Glazzard, 2011; Wilson & Bedford, 2008). The lack of collaboration between teachers and EAs has presented a barrier to special education implementation, mainly due to the difficulty in distinguishing between teacher and EA responsibilities (Angelides et al., 2009; Ratcliff, Jones, Vaden, Sheehan, & Hunt, 2011). Other barriers to a team approach are a lack of appreciation for EAs and a lack of recognition for the EA profession (Abbott, McConkey, & Dobbins, 2011). In fact, Fisher and Pleasants (2012) surveyed EAs and found that their number one professional concern was a lack of appreciation, followed closely by high turnover rates, and lack of expertise for required roles.

The effectiveness of EAs in special education. Some research has been done to investigate the influence EAs have on students with special education needs. The limited research that does exist has mixed findings. Some studies have asserted that EAs can have a negative impact on inclusion (de Boer, Pijl, Post, & Minnaert, 2013), whereas others acknowledge that EAs play an important role in inclusion (Abbott et al., 2011; Moran & Abbott, 2002). Egilson and Traustadottir (2009), as well as Angelides and colleagues (2009) found that EAs were promoting inclusion at times, but also unintentionally promoting exclusion at other times. For example, these studies showed that EAs contributed to more positive behaviour among students with exceptionalities, which helped to foster social relationships with classmates. At the same time however, students with exceptionalities sometimes became too dependent on their assigned EA and this resulted in their peers perceiving them negatively. The issue of overreliance seems to be one of the biggest concerns in the literature regarding the negative effects of EAs. To

address this issue, Giangreco, Broer, and Suter (2011) present alternatives to EA overreliance called the *Guidelines for Selecting Alternatives to Overreliance on Paraprofessionals (GSA)*. These ten guidelines offer practical suggestions for EAs in order to optimize their effectiveness within the special education team. In this study, they found that by utilizing the GSA, more students were able to be included in general education class and EAs were viewed as valued contributors to the special education team. In addition, the GSA reduced overreliance issues. Clearly, more research is needed on the effectiveness of EAs in special education (Saddler, 2014), but it seems that EAs are most effective when there is a structure and guidance provided within the special education team (Giangreco et al., 2011). In particular, more research is needed that measures EAs' effectiveness with students who have special education needs in inclusive settings (Giangreco, 2010).

The need for pre-service EA training. Giangreco and colleagues (2012) point out that if EAs have been ineffective thus far, it is not entirely their fault because of the unclear roles, lack of supervision, and lack of training. Unfortunately, many EAs lack the specific preparation necessary to carry out the new duties of the profession. As a result, some EAs feel inadequate in being able to fulfill their responsibilities. This does not come as a surprise, as most EAs report having little or no preparation for their EA roles (Wall, Davis, Winkler-Crowley, & White, 2005). On the other hand, training of EAs has lead to improvements in self-esteem and an increase in EAs' confidence for their role in special education (Rose & Forlin 2010). In one study, Breton (2010) found that EAs felt they did not have enough formal training prior to beginning their work as EAs or enough in-service training for their current roles as EAs. There has been a general call for better

in-service and pre-service training for EAs in the literature and many EAs have indicated their desire for further education in their field (Abbott et al., 2011; Giangreco et al., 2012; Glazzard, 2011; Moran & Abbott, 2002).

Economically, EAs are less expensive to hire in Ontario than Ontario College of Teachers (OCT) certified teachers because EAs usually have fewer credentials. This fact reflects a social justice issue for students with exceptionalities that was expressed by Giangreco, Suter, and Doyle (2010) when they pointed out that, "we continue to assign the least qualified personnel to students who present the most challenging learning and behavioral characteristics" (p. 51). The role of an EA is changing and until recently there has not been formal pre-service training for these positions.

Reflecting the importance of the new role EAs play in special education, there has been an increase in research on EAs (see the literature review by Giangreco, et al., 2010). It appears, however, that there is still a paucity of research on pre-service EA training, probably because standardized training is often not mandated. Even in Ontario, where pre-service EA programs exist with a provincial program standard, EA hiring practices do not restrict employers to hire ES graduates exclusively. Research studies that have investigated EAs' pre-service training have largely done so by asking participants to reflect on their pre-service experiences retrospectively (Breton, 2010; Burgess & Mayes, 2009). In a retrospective study done by Burgess and Mayes (2009), EAs indicated that they valued their pre-service training. Participants believed their training had prepared them with the proper theoretical understandings in order to apply practical skills on the job. The current study differs insofar as the participants are currently pre-service EAs.

If EAs are expected to be key stakeholders in special education, they need to be

adequately prepared and supported through ongoing development. In Ontario, clear employment criterion has been suggested for EAs (OME, 2011). One such suggestion is that EA hires must have relevant post-secondary education. To meet this need, many Ontario CAATs are now offering diploma pre-service EA programs (i.e., ES programs). ES programs may address some of the professional barriers identified by better preparing college students for a career as an EA. Currently in Ontario, approximately 10 of the 24 colleges offer an ES program on a part-time (e.g., Fanshawe College—still operating as an EA program) or full-time basis (e.g., Mohawk College), with online (e.g., Confederation College), and accelerated options (e.g., Sheridan College). As EAs are asked to take on their new expanded role in special education, there is a clear need for adequate pre-service and in-service training. ES programs help to address this need at the pre-service level in Ontario. In Ontario, a program standard for ES programs (i.e., preservice training) was established in 2012, which has helped to regulate the curriculum of ES programs across the province (MTCU, 2012a).

In the ES program standard there are nine vocational learning outcomes (VLOs) that guide the curriculum for all the ES programs in the province. Individual CAATs develop their own courses so students can demonstrate they have achieved the nine VLOs in the provincial program standard. In addition, there are elements of performance for each VLO. The concept of inclusion is not explicit in any of the nine VLOs; however, inclusion is discussed as an element of performance for VLO two and VLO five. VLO two states, "the graduate has reliability demonstrated the ability to develop and implement strategies to promote and support positive school climates that contribute to a safe, caring and secure educational setting" (MTCU, 2012a, p. 8). The element of

performance for this VLO that discusses inclusion states, "promote an inclusive, equitable, respectful and supportive educational setting" (MTCU, 2012a, p. 8). VLO five states, "the graduate has reliably demonstrated the ability to lead by example to promote empathetic, positive and pro-social behaviour in all learners to facilitate the development of social competence in learners with exceptionalities in accordance with their IEPs" (MTCU, 2012a, p. 11). The element of performance for this VLO that discusses inclusion states, "support, respect and model a culture of inclusivity among all learners to facilitate the development of social competence in learners with exceptionalities in accordance with their IEPs" (MTCU, 2012a, p. 11).

Educational Inclusion

Inclusion is central to this research inquiry. This is a highly researched and controversial topic in the literature. A brief discussion will offer a basic understanding of this concept. Academic and social implications of inclusion for students with and without disabilities are discussed.

Understanding educational inclusion in Ontario. There are many factors that impact our understanding of the inclusionary model of special education and what it means to be inclusive. Glazzard (2011) states, "...there is a lack of shared understanding of what constitutes inclusion" (p. 57) and Avramidis, Bayliss, and Burden (2002) state that inclusion is "...a bewildering concept which can have a variety of interpretations and applications" (p. 158). For this reason, a universal definition of inclusion does not exist. At the most basic level, however, inclusive education means, "...educating students with disabilities in general education classrooms..." (Heward, 2013, p.71). To assert that inclusion is merely a place, however, would be inaccurate and inequitable. Inclusion has

proven to encompass much more.

In 2009 the Ontario government introduced the "Ontario Equity and Inclusive Education Strategy" in an effort to make schools more inclusive for everyone. This initiative recognizes that inclusive education is "education that is based on the principles of acceptance and inclusion of all students, [where] students see themselves reflected in their curriculum, their physical surroundings and the broader environment, in which diversity is honoured and all individuals are respected" (OME, 2009). Initiatives that support educational inclusion have become more commonplace in Canadian settings. As such, there has been an influx of research on educational inclusion from a variety of perspectives. For example, the Canadian Research Centre on Inclusive Education (CRCIE) (2015a) is:

A network of stakeholders who provide a uniquely Canadian view of inclusive education. The partnership is comprised of people with expertise in leadership, research methodologies, and theoretical approaches; they have experience working with diverse partners and stakeholders, and employ a range of approaches and contexts for knowledge mobilization.

The CRCIE points out that successful inclusion is made up of (1) supportive environments, (2) positive relationships, (3) feelings of competence, and (4) opportunities to participate (2015b). Specht and Bennett (2013), who are members of the CRCIE, also suggest that inclusion occurs when all students feel that they belong and are valued members of their class. Despite some general agreement among likeminded scholars, there is still great debate over how inclusion ought to be defined and implemented (Bennett, 2009).

It was Franklin Bobbitt (2004) who stated, "[Education] has the function of training every citizen, man or woman, not for knowledge about citizenship, but for proficiency in citizenship..."(p.10). If indeed we view schools as a microcosm for society, it seems absolutely essential to include students with disabilities in general education classrooms. In these classes all students can have equitable and diverse learning opportunities to develop as proficient citizens that may contribute positively to a socially inclusive society. In *Pathways to Inclusion*, Lord and Hutchison (2011) assert that, "...social inclusion is designed to create opportunities and conditions for citizenship." (p. 13). In theory, inclusion seems like an excellent idea, however, many have questioned the academic and social implications of inclusive education for students with and without disabilities.

Implications of an inclusionary approach to special education. Including students with disabilities in a general education classroom with their same-age peers is a relatively new concept. Since inclusion has become more commonplace, researchers have been interested in the implications of inclusion academically and socially for students with and without disabilities.

Academic implications of inclusion: Students without disabilities. Many arguments against inclusion have focused on the students without disabilities. Ruijs, Van der Veen, and Peetsma (2010) pointed out that parents and professionals were initially concerned that including students with disabilities of varying diagnoses and severities would adversely impact the quality of education for students without disabilities. There was concern that classroom teachers might have less time for students without disabilities because of the great deal of attention that would go toward students with exceptionalities.

There was also a concern that the general level of education would be less rigorous in order to cater to the students with lower aptitudes. In addition, others believed that students with disabilities might be a distraction to the students without disabilities and that students without disabilities may learn aberrant behaviours from students with disabilities.

Although, some of these concerns seem reasonable, a review of the literature by Kalambouka, Farrell, Dyson, & Kaplan (2007) found that inclusive education does not have a negative impact on academic achievement and in some cases students without disabilities in inclusive classrooms report higher academic achievement than those who are not in inclusive classrooms. For example, Gandhi (2007) found that students without disabilities educated in inclusive classrooms had essentially the same reading achievement as students in non-inclusive classrooms and Hartfield found that the same was true for mathematic achievement (2009). In addition, parents have reported that their children (without disabilities) are learning important lessons outside of the curriculum about accepting individual differences, as well as, learning compassion and sensitivity towards others (de Boer, Pijl, & Minnaert, 2010).

Academic implications of inclusion: Students with disabilities. When considering inclusion, academic achievement of students with special educational needs has also been of great concern. For students who cannot be fully included into the general education class all day, withdrawal programs exist that take students out of their class for part of the day in order to provide specialized and individualized instruction. Kauffman and colleagues (2002) asserted that separate learning environments might be necessary for many students with severe emotional and behavioural disorders. In addition, some

parents of students with disabilities believe that an inclusive class is not an appropriate placement for their child, most however, prefer an inclusive class. According to a study by Elkins, van Kraayenoord, and Jobling (2002) most parents supported inclusion by reporting that an inclusive class would be ideal. Despite this debate over inclusive and self-contained classes, research suggests, in general, that students' with disabilities academic performance is slightly more positive in inclusive classes compared to non-inclusive classes (de Graaf, van Hove, & Haveman, 2013; Mason, 2013; Ruijs, & Peetsma, 2009). It is important to note, however, that many factors can impact student performance and this can vary from one student to the next.

Social implications of inclusion. Giroux (1978) presented the idea that schools are "... agents of socialization..." (p. 148). Certainly, schools are social places where "in-groups" and "out-groups" are formulated. Unfortunately, students with disabilities have been historically marginalized and often become a part of the out-group. In fact, research indicates that students without disabilities are less likely to befriend their peers with disabilities, as compared to their peers without disabilities (Avramidis, 2013; de Boer et al., 2013; Pijl, Frostad, & Flem, 2008). In addition, students with special education needs are more likely to be involved in bullying, both as a victim and as a bully (Swearer, Wang, Maag, Siebecker, & Frerichs, 2012). Poor socialization for students with disabilities can create major barriers to inclusive education. Some promising research indicates that the more experience students have with peers who have exceptionalities, the more likely they are to be accepting of inclusive practices (Cairns & McClatchey, 2013). Nevertheless, students with exceptionalities continue to have difficulty being included socially compared to their peers without disabilities.

Enhancing the attitudes of students without disabilities toward their peers with disabilities may have a long lasting impact. In a longitudinal study, Rillotta and Nettelbeck (2007) were able to enhance students' attitudes toward disability through an eight-week intervention program called the *Awareness of Disability Program*. This program focused on providing students with knowledge about disability. The positive changes in attitude they observed were still evident when measured again eight years later. In addition, de Boer and colleagues (2013) found that attitudinal changes enhanced the likelihood of friendships being forged among classmates with and without disabilities. Further research in this field is required in order to more fully understand the social relationships between students with and without disabilities because "relationship building is one vehicle for implementing the inclusion process." (Lord & Hutchison, 2011, p. 14).

Attitudinal Research

Some basic theoretical understandings of attitudinal research will be discussed. I will utilize some of these theories in an effort to better understand pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. In particular, I will discuss participants' responses in reference to the three dimensions of the tripartite theory of attitude by pointing out which dimension(s) of attitude the participants' responses fall into. Examining educators' attitudes toward inclusion is important because attitudes may have an impact on behaviour.

Attitudinal theories. Basic conceptualizations of attitude have been debated over the last century. Explaining attitude as a construct has fallen into two main categories: (1) one-dimensional models and (2) multidimensional models. Unidimensional theories

assert that attitude is a singular construct and is often interchanged with beliefs (Fishbein & Raven, 1962). Multidimensional theories, however, conceptualize overall attitude as the summation of two or more factors.

Among the multidimensional theories of attitude, the tripartite theory is one of the most prominent (Ostrom, 1969; Breckler, 1984). This view defines attitude as a combination of one's affect (i.e., feelings), behaviour (i.e., actions), and cognition (i.e., thoughts and beliefs). Another multidimensional view of attitude excludes behaviour as a factor because it has been argued that attitudes and actual behaviours do not always correlate (Ajzen, 2001; Corey, 1937; LaPiere, 1934). This point has not gone uncontested however, as cognitive dissonance theory supports that attitudes often manifest as behaviours that accurately reflect our attitudes (Festinger & Carlsmith, 1959). In addition, the theory of Planned Behaviour links behaviours and attitudes. This theory asserts that people's behaviours are often a reflection of their behavioural intentions and perceived behavioural control (Ajzen, 2001).

Despite some technical disagreements and mixed findings among scholars, some generic definitions of attitude have been asserted over the years. For example, Myers and Smith (2009) define attitude as "a general and enduring evaluation of some person, object, or issue along a continuum from positive to negative" (p. 79). In addition, early on in attitudinal research, Allport and Shanck (1936) asserted that the development of one's attitudes is a combination of both nurture (i.e., culture, upbringing, etc.) and nature (i.e., biological factors). Building off of the influence of nurture, Mere Exposure theory states that one's attitude toward a person or object can be enhanced through exposure to that person or object for an extended period of time (Zajonc, 2001). In the context of this

research study, I hope to ascertain a greater understanding of the way in which an ES program (a shared experience of all participants) and other lived experiences have shaped ES students' attitudes toward inclusionary education.

Pre-service teachers' and EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. Although research supports that both students with and without disabilities can benefit academically and socially from inclusive education, the effectiveness of an inclusive classroom can be largely dictated by educators' attitudes toward an inclusionary approach. Unfortunately, meta-analyses done by Avramidis and Norwich (2002) and more recently by de Boer, Pijl, and Minnaert (2011) have found, in general, teachers hold negative or neutral attitudes toward full-inclusion and slightly more positive attitudes toward partial inclusion. Several factors may impact a teacher's attitude toward inclusion (e.g., years of experience, class size, sex of the teacher, specialized training, etc.). In order for inclusion to be implemented to the fullest extent possible for all students, some of these attitudinal barriers must be addressed. There have been no studies found to date that measure preservice EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. For this reason, I look to the literature on preservice teachers and in-service EAs.

Pre-service teachers attitudes toward inclusion. Due to the lack of literature on pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion, similar studies on pre-service teachers are examined. Together with EAs, teachers play an important role in special education implementation. In fact, Hemmings and Woodcock (2011) found that pre-service teachers perceived EAs and other support staff to be essential for inclusive practices to be successful, but overall they felt poorly prepared to teach students with special education needs. The researchers followed up with the participants and found that by the end of

their pre-service teaching program, the student teachers felt more confident in their ability to apply an inclusive philosophy and placed less of an emphasis on support staff. This may reflect a bigger trend that was discussed earlier. That is, in special education, teachers and EAs are not prepared to work alongside one another. In a recent Canadian study, however, Ryan (2009) found that pre-service teachers value time for preparation as one of the most important factors for the success of inclusion, rather than personnel support. Overall, these pre-service teachers held positive attitudes toward inclusion, but may not have been utilizing the full special education team in practice. This may indicate that pre-service teachers feel that the onus for providing inclusive education falls entirely on them, rather than adopting a team approach with EAs. Bennett (2009) recognizes that while it is important for teachers to take on ownership of the students with exceptionalities in their class, it is equally important for teachers to work alongside EAs in the special education team.

There are several factors that can have an impact on whether or not an educator has positive or negative attitudes toward inclusive education (Costello & Boyle, 2013). In a review of the literature, Avramidis and Norwich (2002) discuss several factors that impact teachers' attitudes towards inclusion (e.g., disability type, gender, years of experience, grade level, etc.). Attitudes towards inclusion vary from culture to culture, as well as from one individual to another. It would appear that two of the biggest factors investigated in the literature that seems to enhance attitudes toward educational inclusion are disability knowledge and experiences (Loreman, Sharma, & Forlin, 2013).

In an international study, Sharma, Forlin and Loreman (2008) measured 603 preservice teachers' attitudes toward inclusion from Australia, Canada, Hong Kong and

Singapore using a researcher-developed scale. They found that participants' attitudes were much better at the conclusion of the program compared to the start. They concluded that knowledge obtained in the program had influenced their attitudes toward inclusion. The researchers explained, "... that for teachers to be effective catalysts of inclusion they need to be adequately prepared during their pre-service training" (p. 774). Similarly, Ajuwon and colleagues (2012) measured pre-service teachers' attitudes toward inclusion using a modified version of the *Pre-Service Inclusion Survey*. In this study attitude scores were also measured pre- and post- coursework—at the beginning and end of a mandatory special education course. Pre-service teachers' attitudes toward teaching students with special education needs increased significantly at post-test measures.

Like knowledge, experience also seems to have a positive impact on pre-service teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. For example, Swain, Nordness, and Leader-Janssen (2012) found that student teachers that had had an opportunity to work in an inclusive class alongside special education teachers had the biggest developments in their attitudes toward inclusion compared to their classmates without this experience. This is in line with Mere Exposure Theory discussed earlier (Zajonc, 2001). It is believed that through extended exposure in an inclusive class, student teachers (or EAs for that matter) will develop more positive attitudes toward inclusive education. Ideally these positive attitudes will translate to positive behaviours and result in inclusive practices being utilized on placements and in future practice. This attitude to behaviour connection points out the importance of studying attitudes toward inclusion. Attitudes can profoundly impact the extent to which inclusionary ideals are strived for in praxis (Avramidis & Norwich, 2002; Costello & Boyle, 2013).

EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. Very few studies measuring EAs' attitudes toward inclusion have been conducted to date, and no studies were found measuring preservice EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. This is particularly interesting when one considers the vast amount of literature on teachers' and pre-service teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. Through an extensive searching strategy, six peer-reviewed studies were found on EAs' attitudes toward inclusion published in the last ten years. Two of these articles were completed with the same set of data by one research team. These six articles measure some aspect of EAs' attitudes toward inclusion (e.g., understandings of, feelings toward, etc.). Among the studies found, most of them measured EAs' attitudes in addition to those of teachers' and other educational stakeholders' attitudes; only two focused on EAs exclusively (Mackenzie, 2011; Symes and Humphrey, 2011).

Lawson and colleagues (2006) examined 60 EAs' and teachers' stories about educational inclusion. The researchers visited one primary and one secondary school in southwest England three times each during the 2003/2004 school year. Teachers and EAs were interviewed and encouraged to tell their stories based on their lived experiences. The data consisted of sixty stories from the two schools. The researchers also included their own stories in the data because they too had practical experiences in special education settings. As such this study was a narrative and autobiographical inquiry. The researchers acknowledged that the EA voice has been largely underrepresented in the literature.

Participants had difficulty defining inclusion, which is not surprising given the lack of a standard definition for inclusion. In fact, one EA participant did not feel it was necessary to have a view toward inclusion by stating, "... I don't have to have a view

because I feel, you know, I come here and a teacher tells me what to do so it doesn't matter what my view is" (p. 61). This may lend support to the notion that teachers and EAs are ill equipped to work alongside one another. Ideally the EA and teacher should be working together with shared visions and goals. Also, some EAs need to develop more of a professional identity as an important and contributing member of the special education team.

Participants in the study by Lawson and colleagues (2006) discussed their experience inside and outside the school with people who have disabilities. These experiences were common among participants and seemed to have a strong influence on their attitudes toward educational inclusion. In general EAs in this study had mostly positive attitudes toward inclusion. In addition, most EAs and teachers in the study discussed inclusion in terms of their personal contributions to educational support for students with special education needs.

The same research team (as discussed above) decided to take a closer look at six of their participants' stories from their earlier study (Lawson et al., 2006). Sikes, Lawson, and Parker (2007) included an expanded discussion of the methodological approach employed by the researchers. They asserted that self-awareness through reflection of one's own stories based on lived experiences is an important step toward developing socially just pedagogies. This may be particularly important for participants in current study as pre-service EAs. Upon analyzing the data more closely, Sikes and colleagues (2007) found that EAs generally support inclusion in theory, but express concerns about the implementation of inclusion in practice—a phenomenon that they have coined as "yes, but". For example, yes, I support inclusion, but we don't have enough funding to

support it.

In another research study, Glazzard (2011) conducted a focus group with teachers and EAs at a primary school in Northern England. He found that participants' attitudes toward inclusion were mixed among teachers and EAs (i.e., positive, negative, and ambivalent). The researcher discussed the importance of EAs and teachers developing a unified understanding of inclusion in order to implement educational inclusion in the classroom effectively. Glazzard (2011) acknowledged that attitudinal barriers that exist among some educators must be addressed because poor attitudes toward inclusion can impact the extent to which inclusive strategies are utilized. Although teachers' and EAs' understanding of educational inclusion were not unified, through the focus group, Glazzard was able to identify several factors that could help to enhance the effectiveness of an inclusive approach. Educators reported the importance of one-on-one support and teamwork between teachers and EAs. On the other hand, participants reported that compensatory special education policies, parental resistance, and lack of resources posed barriers to an inclusionary approach.

In another study that addressed EAs' attitudes toward educational inclusion,
Mackenzie (2011) conducted interviews or focus groups with 13 EAs who were working
in inclusive classrooms in England. Ten EAs participated in focus groups and three
participants were individually interviewed. This study was interested in EAs' attitudes
toward inclusion and how their life histories have impacted these attitudes. In particular,
the researcher was interested in the EAs' experiences working in an inclusive classroom.
Mackenzie found that EAs' attitudes toward inclusion were mixed and that even though
they generally supported inclusion, they had reservations about its implementation.

Mackenzie makes a connection to the "yes, but" phenomenon presented by Sikes and colleagues (2007) by paying homage to their study in the title of her study—'Yes, but...': Rhetoric, reality and resistance in teaching assistants' experiences of inclusive education. In addition, EA participants reported that they believe they play a central role in successful inclusion. However, participants resented the fact that EAs' work is often considered by many in the school to be of low status and unintellectual compared to the work of teachers. Not surprisingly, EAs were uniformly unhappy with their current working relationships with their assigned classroom teachers.

In a phenomenological study, Symes and Humphrey (2011) conducted semistructured interviews with 15 EAs who were working with students who had a diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in the southwest of England. The researchers were interested in examining EAs' attitudes toward inclusion of students with ASD specifically. EAs reported positive attitudes toward inclusive education. EA participants also acknowledged that positive attitudes toward inclusion were essential for inclusion to be successful. In addition, participants identified access to experts, communication, and staff awareness of ASD to be additional factors that facilitate inclusion. The special education needs coordinator and fellow EAs (particularly EAs with experience) were seen as experts by the participants. The EA participants felt that these facilitating factors had to start with a positive school culture, where EAs could feel comfortable asking questions and working together in the special education team. EAs in this study described a positive school culture as one with strong leadership, collaboration, and respect. The EAs in this study reported feeling respected by their colleagues, which differs from some of the other studies discussed in this section.

Most recently, Bennett and Gallagher (2013) measured attitudes of EAs, teachers, parents, peers, community employers, and job coaches at all seven high schools in one school board in Ontario, Canada. They sought to discover stakeholders' attitudes toward educational and community inclusion. This was the only study of the six studies that measured EAs' attitudes toward education inclusion that utilized a quantitative approach. Sixty-seven high school EAs' attitudes toward inclusion were measured using a Likert scale questionnaire developed from two existing metrics. Although this study measures several EAs' attitudes, the researchers acknowledged that generalization from this study was limited because all participants were drawn from only one school board. This may, however, point to the importance of a school board wide approach to educational inclusion. They found that EAs and teachers had positive attitudes toward educational inclusion, but were less optimistic about the community outcomes of inclusion compared to parents and students with exceptionalities. The researchers conceded that the positive attitudes discovered might have resulted from the overall inclusive philosophy of the school board. By examining the attitudes of many stakeholders, this study emphasized the importance of a team approach to special education. In addition, this study discussed the role of secondary schools' special education programming in transitioning students with exceptionalities from high school to the world of work.

Summary and Rationale for Current Research

This review of the literature discusses the context of ES programs (i.e., Ontario CAATs) from which the current study will draw participants. Following is an exploration of the evolving role of the EA profession within special education team. Next, the effectiveness, appropriateness, and even the definition of what constitutes educational

inclusion are discussed. Lastly, current literature that has investigated in-service teachers', pre-service teachers', and in-service EAs' attitudes toward educational inclusion are examined.

Inclusion is a highly debated phenomenon among scholars and educational professionals. This literature review lends support to the idea that inclusionary education is beneficial for students with and without disabilities in academic and social domains. It is important that educators develop positive attitudes toward inclusion, rather than ambivalent or negative attitudes. This is important because the extent to which inclusionary approaches are utilized can be strongly impacted by educators' attitudes toward inclusion. Pre-service EA programs in Ontario CAATs (i.e., ES programs) provide prospective EAs with a unique opportunity to develop their educational philosophies from their coursework and field placement opportunities. In addition, Ajuwon and colleagues (2012) suggest that "... pre-service training may be the optimum time to address educators' concerns and change any negative attitudes about inclusive education" (p. 101). Pre-service experiences in conjunction with students' lived experiences may strongly impact their attitudes toward inclusion and subsequent effectiveness in implementing inclusionary approaches.

The current study addresses several gaps in the literature. First, there are very few studies that examine EAs' attitudes toward educational inclusion, only one on which was conducted in Ontario in the last ten years. In addition, there is a need for more applied research in CAATs. In particular, there is a need for research in ES programs since no existing research in these programs has been found. This narrative research inquiry took into account the lived experiences of pre-service EAs (both inside and outside of the ES

program). This allowed me to address my research question: *What are final year ES students' attitudes towards inclusion?*

The majority of studies reviewed on pre-service teachers' attitudes toward inclusion used a quantitative design, in which participants indicated their extent of approval or disapproval with statements about inclusive education on a Likert scale. Hemmings and Woodcock (2011) and McCray & McHatton (2011), however, employed open-ended questions to gain insight into pre-service teacher's attitudes towards inclusion. These studies point out that utilizing a qualitative approach allows the participants to respond in ways that may be unknown to the researcher, thus allowing for more rich and personally relevant data to emerge. Following this trend, the majority of research on EAs' attitudes toward inclusion has taken a qualitative approach (i.e., five of the six studies). This is unusual in the larger context of attitudinal research on educational inclusion. Lawson and colleagues (2006) acknowledge that, "the dominant research tool in these studies [attitudinal research]...continues to be Likert-type scales and inventories offering pre-defined categories or statements, with respondents frequently being forced to make bi-polar choices" (p. 57). In a literature review Avramidis and Norwich (2002) recommend that, "future research would benefit from employing alternative methods, such as life history, narrative or autobiography, to examine...attitudes [toward educational inclusion]" (p.144). Avramidis and Norwich (2002) develop their idea further by stating that, "studies of this nature [qualitative] carry the potential of deepening our understanding of the complexities of inclusion (p.144). Thus, narrative inquiry has been adopted for the purpose of the current study. Data will be collected through a demographic questionnaire and semi-structured interviews. The qualitative research

studies that measure EAs' attitudes toward inclusion most closely resemble the current research endeavour. These studies investigated working EAs' attitudes toward inclusion, whereas the current study examines pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

Selection Criteria

Selecting a CAAT. The selection criteria started at the institutional level. This research study is interested in pre-service EAs' education/preparation carried out in publicly funded Ontarian CAATs. In Ontario there are 24 CAATs. After going through a very specific set of selection criteria I was left with two CAATs with ES programs that had a potential pool of final year ES student participants. I planned to move forward and interview participants from these two colleges. After initial REB feedback, however, it was determined the ES program I coordinate should not be included due to the power dynamics between potential participants and myself. This left me with one CAAT, which had two ES programs (i.e., a two-year program and a one-year intensive program). In order to protect the anonymity and confidentiality of participants, a pseudonym will be assigned to the college from which participants were recruited. Throughout this paper I will refer to the CAAT that is participating in this study as *Moxie College*. Participants for this study were drawn from the two ES programs at Moxie College

Selecting participants. For the purposes of this study, I was only interested in final year students in the two ES programs at Moxie College. This included second year students in the two-year program (i.e., approximately 30 students) and students in the one-year intensive program (i.e., approximately 35 students). In the two-year program, the second-year students had gone through the majority of the program at the time of data collection (i.e., winter semester of 2015). As a result, they have had more experience with their coursework and through field placements. It is believed that second year students have had more of an opportunity to reflect upon their experiences in comparison to first

year students in the two-year program. In addition, as part of the admission criteria, students in the one-year intensive ES program must have had either a significant amount of related experience in the field of special education or have graduated from a related post-secondary diploma or degree program. Arguably, these two groups of students have had an opportunity to develop their own attitudes toward inclusion from their lived experiences (inside and outside of the ES program).

Recruitment

The coordinator of the ES programs at Moxie College agreed to post a recruitment message on the students e-learning website in the winter semester of 2015. The letters of consent were attached in the email if students wanted to learn more about the project before volunteering to participate. The letters of consent outline the purpose, responsibilities, risks, and benefits of the study. ES students were encouraged to contact me via email if they were interested in participating. Students were given over a month to decide if they were interested in being interviewed for this study. Several reminders from the ES coordinator were sent to students during this time period. This included three announcements on the programs' e-learning website, three mass emails to all final year students, and both cohorts of interest were reminded in class twice. This resulted in four participants requesting an interview. Four participants was a good number for this narrative inquiry study because it allowed me to focus deeply on each participant's lived experiences. Creswell explains that, "narrative research is best for capturing the detailed stories or life experiences of a single individual or the lives of a small number of individuals" (2013, p. 74). In addition, I noticed some data saturation among the four participants, which gives further support to the number of participants interviewed

(Guest, Bunce, & Johnson, 2006). Despite some indicators of a sufficient sized sample, I must concede that a larger, more diversified sample would have been ideal.

Research Design

Narrative inquiry was employed as a research design. As such, I was interested in how participants have constructed their attitudes toward educational inclusion from their lived experiences (Creswell, 2013). Participants' experiences were central to this research study, especially their experiences in the ES program. Students in the two-year program took a course specifically on inclusion, whereas, the students in the intensive program did not. The coordinator of the ES programs informed me that future cohorts would not be taking a class specifically on inclusion because it has been removed from their program chart. The faculty in the ES programs at Moxie College decided inclusion should be discussed across all coursework rather than studied in isolation. In addition, field placements will likely give students exposure to this concept as inclusion becomes increasingly important in Ontario's special education system.

Connelly and Clandinin (1990) emphasize that, "narrative inquiry is increasingly used in studies on educational experience" (p. 2). This study gave a voice to pre-service EAs in the educational literature for the first time in Ontario. Participants were asked to recollect and share stories from their lives both inside and outside of the ES program. I was able to interpret participants' responses while seeking clarification throughout the process. This methodology was chosen because I was interested in how participants had conceptualized their attitudes toward educational inclusion. In addition, I wanted to examine how ES students' lived experiences have impacted their attitudes toward educational inclusion.

Instrumentation. Data was gathered from participants using a demographic questionnaire (see Appendix A) and semi-structured interviews (see Appendix B for guiding questions). The demographic questionnaire was designed in order to obtain basic information about participants (e.g., gender, age, highest level of education, experience with educational inclusion, etc.). In addition to the demographic questionnaire, a series of questions were developed in order to guide the semi-structured interviews. Demographic information helped to contextualize participants' lived experiences, which can be an important part of understanding one's lived experiences (McCormack, 2004). The demographic questionnaire asked participants about their experiences inside and outside of the ES program. Due to the semi-structured nature of these interviews, prompts were used to elicit storytelling from participants. In some cases, information from the demographic questionnaire was used as a prompt during the interview to elicit more detailed and narrative responses. Prompts were deliberate to allow participants the opportunity to formulate, share, and reflect upon their stories in a natural way. By collecting data through this procedure, I was able address my main research question— What are final year ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion? Semi-structured interview questions were developed with some guidance from studies that had similar research inquires in the literature and had published their interview questions in their articles (see Glazzard 2011; Hemmings & Woodcock, 2011; McCray & McHatton, 2011).

The data were collected on the campus of Moxie College in a private study room near the library for three of the four participants and one participant requested a Skype interview. On average, the demographic questionnaire took about ten minutes and the

interview took approximately an hour and twenty minutes to complete. The total time was about an hour and a half for each participant. Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. In addition, I took anecdotal notes on nonverbal cues (e.g., body language, facial expressions, etc.) in order to get a better understanding of participants' stories. Once transcriptions were complete, participants were contacted. Participants had the opportunity to read over the transcriptions to ensure their accuracy to enhance the trustworthiness of the study. Carlson (2010) points out that this member checking procedure "... is often a single event that takes place only with the verification of transcripts or early interpretations" (p. 1105). The member checking process helped to ensure that I did not misrepresent the views of the participants. In some cases the participants added information to the transcripts to further clarify, but all four participants agreed that the transcriptions were complete, accurate, and reflected their true attitudes toward educational inclusion. At this time participants gave me their consent to continue on with the analysis of the data. The procedures described above have been employed in an effort to address credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Shenton, 2004).

Participants

Four students in their final year of an ES program at Moxie College participated in this study. The four participants were all female with an average age of 43.75 (age ranged from 34 to 49). As such, all the participants were mature students who had a great deal of life experience to draw from. Three of the four participants were in the one-year intensive ES program and one participant was in her second year of the two-year ES program. In addition, three of the four participants indicated that they had relatives or

friends with disabilities. All four participants indicated that they had worked in an education setting or in the disability service field in some capacity prior to enrolling in Moxie College's ES program. All four participants had experience in inclusive classrooms on their field placements in the ES program. Three of the four participants had completed university degrees and one participant had no formal education outside of the ES program. In order to protect the participants' identities, all of them have been assigned pseudonyms.

April. April is a forty-three year old woman and is enrolled in Moxie College's one-year intensive ES program. Prior to enrolling in the ES program she completed a degree in History from the University of Toronto. She has a distant relative with a disability, but reported that she was interested in the field of special education prior to this relative being born. Her field placement in the ES program was in an inclusive classroom with two boys who had ASD (i.e., one low-functioning and one high-functioning). Prior to her experiences in the ES program, April worked as a teacher at a private school. She had students with exceptionalities in her class who had IEPs and these students were included in the general education classroom.

Anne. Anne is a forty-nine year old woman and is in the second year of Moxie College's two-year ES program. The ES program is her first formal post-secondary education experience. Anne's father had a physical disability and her daughter has been identified as gifted. Anne also has a good friend who has a child with a disability. Her placements in the ES program have all been in inclusive classrooms. Her first field placement was in a Junior Kindergarten class working with students who had ASD and developmental disabilities. At her next placement she worked with students who were

diagnosed with ASD in a high school. In her third and final placement she worked with a variety of students in different elementary grade levels. These students had behavioural disorders, learning disabilities, ASD, and cerebral palsy. Prior to her experiences in the ES program, Anne worked for over 25 years as a bus driver for students with special needs.

Kelly. Kelly is a forty-nine year old woman and is enrolled in Moxie College's one-year intensive ES program. Prior to enrolling in the ES program she completed a degree in English at McMaster University. In addition, she is currently taking online courses on inclusion through Athabasca University. She has a son and two brothers who have all been diagnosed with a learning disability. Through her placement experiences, Kelly has had experience in both inclusive and self-contained classes. In the inclusive class she worked within an elementary school with children who had learning disabilities, ASD, and behavioural disorders. In the self-contained class, she worked in a high school with youth who were medically fragile, low-functioning, and high needs. Outside of the ES program, Kelly had six years of volunteer experience in elementary and middle school settings.

Grace. Grace is a thirty-four year old woman and is enrolled in Moxie College's one-year intensive ES program. Prior to enrolling in the ES program she completed a degree in Psychology from Athabasca University, a Human Behaviour Certificate from Humber College, and a General Arts and Science Diploma from Sheridan College. She did not report having a disability, a close friend with a disability, or a family member with a disability. Grace's placement experiences in the ES program have all been in inclusive classrooms. Her first placement was in Junior Kindergarten with a non-verbal

student diagnosed with a developmental disability. Her second placement was in grades three and six working with students who were diagnosed with cerebral palsy. Prior to her experiences in the ES program, Grace worked as a support worker with Family Respite Services for sixteen years and was a tutor for over ten years.

Data Analysis

The interview questions helped to elicit responses from participants. From these responses, I was able to compile a set of data that was then analyzed for themes.

Thematic analysis was employed, specifically the use of inductive analysis—a technique of coding data from interviews in an organic way (i.e., without predetermined categories) (Braun & Clark, 2002). Transcribed interviews were read over several times in order to locate patterns in the data (McCormack, 2000). From these patterns, larger themes emerged (discussed in detail in the discussion chapter). I was able to draw on my personal experiences to better understand participants' responses to the interviews (Corbin & Strauss, 2008). My experiences were able to assist me in interpreting participants' experiences because I myself have experienced the phenomenon of interest (i.e., I been a student in an EA/ES program). In addition, I am currently a coordinator of an ES program at a CAAT in Ontario and have a strong knowledge of what ES students experience within these programs. The member checking procedure (discussed above) helped to ensure I was not clouded by bias.

Ethical Considerations

Informed consent was collected from all participants prior to any data collection.

In addition participants were reminded that they could withdraw from the study at any point during the research process. After conducting interviews, the data was safeguarded

and kept in a locked filing cabinet in my personal office. This included signed consent forms, completed demographic questionnaires, and printed transcriptions. I kept all the digital information on a password-protected laptop and used pseudonyms for all participants throughout the process. In addition, audio recordings were deleted after transcription and participants were given copies of their personal transcripts to make necessary changes and/or to clarify accuracy (i.e., member checking). I kept in contact with participants throughout the research process and sometimes asked follow up questions via email to clarify participants' responses.

No major ethical issues emerged throughout the research process. I remained committed to upholding the standards of the Research Ethics Board at the University of Windsor and Moxie College at all stages of the research process. It is believed that the risks were minimal and short-term, whereas, the data collected may have positive impacts on pre-service EA training and future praxis.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

In this chapter the narratives that were shared by each participant during their interviews are presented with quotes from the participants. Each ES student divulged a unique and meaningful perspective on educational inclusion. As such, each of the four interviewee's stories will be presented in isolation in order to delve deeply into the individual experiences of each participant. These four ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion should not be generalized or considered to represent the attitudes of ES students across Ontario. This study, however, may have important implications for these four participants or for others in similar circumstances. The stories that these four participants shared delve deeply into their personal lived experiences and have generated further questions about this research field.

To begin the semi-structured interview, all of the participants were asked, "How do you personally define educational inclusion?" Despite all participants having similar educational experiences in the ES program, each participant had a slightly different interpretation of the concept. This perhaps reflects the lack of shared understanding of what constitutes inclusion that was discussed earlier (Glazzard, 2011). Participants discussed their personal and professional experiences both inside and outside of the ES program. In addition, as mature students, all four participants had a great deal of experience in the field of special education. In order to gain insight into final year ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion, the guiding questions for the semi-structured interviews focused on obtaining information about participants': (1) understanding of educational inclusion, (2) attitude towards educational inclusion, (3) factors that facilitate educational inclusion, and (4) perceived barriers to educational

inclusion. By discussing these four topics throughout the interview process, the participants were attempting to make sense of inclusion. Avramidis and colleagues (2002) described inclusion as "a bewildering concept" (p. 158) because it is neither fully understood nor uniformly implemented. Due to the subjective nature of inclusion as both a philosophy and a practice, it is all the more important that each individual's personal conceptualization and value judgments of inclusion be presented in this chapter as individual stories. All four participants had a slightly different understanding of educational inclusion. Each respondent reflects a unique perspective and the findings for each of the four participants are presented below. General themes that have emerged from the participants' collective experiences will be presented in the subsequent discussion chapter.

April: "Having an EA in every classroom would be amazing!"

Most of April responses started with "I think . . ." and thus fit into the cognitive dimension of attitude. Some of her responses that reflected upon her experiences as a teacher and her experiences from field placement fit into the behavioural dimension of attitude. Finally, very few responses fit into the affective dimension. She does not discuss her own feelings, but does discuss the feelings of students, EAs, and parents in her responses.

Understanding of inclusion. April asserted that educational inclusion was about including all students in the general education classroom. When asked to give her personal definition, she declared, "...educational inclusion to me means that all students are in one classroom together regardless of any disparities in their disability [sic]." April went on to explain that educational inclusion was about everyone, not just students with

disabilities. She said, "I think inclusion has to be a bigger picture than just with students with exceptionalities. I think inclusion really has to mean everyone." She later built upon this idea by adding, "[Educational inclusion] from what I understood is setting [the classroom] up so that every student has the opportunity to succeed in learning." Although she had previous experience as a teacher in a private school setting, April credited the ES program at Moxie College for her current understanding of educational inclusion. She admitted, "to be honest, before this program I did not know much about it [educational inclusion]."

Attitude towards inclusion. In general, April's attitudes were supportive of educational inclusion. She believed that inclusion in the general education classroom should be considered before alternative service delivery models. To illustrate this point, she said, "I think fundamentally my opinion is that we should always try to have them [students with exceptionalities] in an inclusive classroom first." Despite April's theoretical understanding that inclusion is for everyone, she did not believe that all students could benefit from being included in the general education classroom. She pointed out:

I think that [decisions on service delivery models] is kind of a case-by-case basis that you would have to look into to see if that [educational setting] would fit for their [the student with an exceptionality] needs. I do see the benefit though, for segregated classrooms, so that they have more one-on-one time without distraction.

April's attitudes toward educational inclusion were in line with provincial policies. The OME stipulates that IPRCs are responsible for placing identified individuals

in the most appropriate educational setting (OME, 2007). Every student who requires special education services has unique special education needs. As such, each individual student will require different levels of support to promote their success. April pointed out that some students benefit more from inclusive environments, whereas others thrive in a separate environment where they can access more support. April reflected on some of the students from her field placement experiences to illustrate her point about case-by-case consideration. She explained:

I think it [the educational setting] really depends on the child or the student. I have seen some really great . . . [instances of inclusion] on my placement . . . with a student who has ASD in a kindergarten integrated class. I think students like this one would do very well in an inclusive environment. There are certain times . . . for safety [reasons] . . . it may be a better idea to have students with exceptionalities, for at least part of the day, in a different classroom. I think there is room for both, in my opinion.

For April, the social aspect of inclusion was the most important component. She felt that a student's readiness to socialize with their same-age peers should have a large impact on service delivery decisions. She explained, "I think the social piece is really one of the main reasons why an inclusive classroom works." April asserted that in some cases students with disabilities, particularly with behavioural disorders, would be better off in a self-contained classroom. Some students, she argued, did not have strong enough social skills to thrive in an inclusive environment. She elaborated by pointing out that inclusion might be particularly challenging for students with behavioural disorders. She said, "I think that in some cases depending on the behavioural issues that may be surrounding

certain disabilities, it [including students with behavioural disorders] could mean a safety concern for outbursts they may have."

While she recognized the risk to students without exceptionalities, April also pointed out some benefits to inclusion for students without exceptionalities during our discussion. She said, "It is important for . . . [students without exceptionalities] to see that there are other children or students that are different from them. [This will help with] creating empathy [and] support in their communities." I responded by saying, "So you think [inclusion] benefits both parties involved [both students with and without exceptionalities] then?" She clarified and made an important connection from the school environment to the world beyond the classroom. She said, "Yeah, I think so because the world is made up of a whole bunch of different people. They are not all segregated when you get out into the world."

While April attributed her knowledge of inclusion to the ES program, she acknowledged that her attitudes toward educational inclusion were developing before she started the program. She pointed out that her early experiences as a private school teacher resulted in attitudes toward inclusion that may have been overly optimistic. As a teacher in a private school she only had eight students in her class and only a couple of those students were identified with exceptionalities. She recalled:

I think definitely the initial experience I had in a classroom with some of the students that I taught certainly shaped how I felt about inclusion. In independent schools . . . it is a very different scenario than school boards where there are twenty-five kids. There were only eight kids in my class . . . I had the time to be

able to do one-on-one things with the students who were struggling or needing extra support.

Through her experiences in both private and public schools, April came to recognize the importance of time and resources. Students with special education needs often require additional attention and support. With a higher student to staff ratio in a class, it becomes more challenging to meet the diverse needs of all the students and to include everyone. Despite these challenges, April remained optimistic and supportive of educational inclusion.

April also credited her daughters for her optimistic view towards educational inclusion. Her daughters, three and seven, do not have any identified exceptionalities, but they were both educated in inclusive classes in a pre-school and grade one class respectively. She has found that her daughters have had questions about the students with exceptionalities in their classes. April takes these opportunities to teach her children about diversity and acceptance. She felt that her daughters were better prepared to succeed in inclusive settings because they have had the opportunity to reflect on their experiences and ask questions. In addition, April acknowledged that her background in special education has played an important role in these discussions and has allowed her to explain the importance of inclusion and classroom diversity to her daughters.

Facilitating Factors. Through her experiences, April was able to identify two factors that she believed are necessary for educational inclusion to be successful. The factors she identified were (1) educational support and (2) creating an inviting environment.

Educational support. Not surprisingly, April believed that EAs play an integral

role in the special education team and in assisting all students who require additional educational support. She explained:

From . . . placement [and] my personal experience [one of the most important factors is] having . . . [enough staff] to be able to have the support in place if there are students that need extra support so they can interact with their peers in the classroom. I think having an EA in every class . . . would be a utopian ideal.

Through her experiences in private and public settings, April expressed a need to increase staff to provide more support for students (with and without disabilities). This emphasis on increasing the number of EAs may reflect back to her experiences in the private school setting where the student to staff ratio was much more manageable. She later reiterated this point when she proclaimed, "Having an EA in every classroom would be amazing!" Reflecting on her placement experiences, April realized just how important EAs are, especially for students who are high needs/low functioning. She reflected on her experiences with a student from her placement in an inclusive classroom:

One of the students that I work with for instance . . . is considered low functioning [and] non-verbal. He has outbursts if he is having challenges or is finding his stress level gets higher. He will just flop down or try to run out of the room. So if I wasn't there or the EA wasn't there, there would be a big problem. I cannot imagine him being in an inclusive environment without the support he is getting. So I definitely think having an EA [in the classroom is a facilitating factor for inclusion].

April emphasized the importance of the EA's role by recognizing that EAs provide much needed support to students who have special education needs. EAs often work one-on-

one with students who require special education services in order to make education more accessible and enhance educational inclusion initiatives.

While April emphasized EAs, she also advocated for educational support in general. This includes the entire special education team (e.g., teachers, principals, etc.). Every member in the special education team has an important role to play. April pointed out the importance of a team approach for providing educational support. She believed that this is particularly important for implementing programming more quickly without wasting any critical time. She explained the need for "... lots of layers of people who help to support the students [to cut down on] . . . the amount of time it takes for a plan to be put into place with the necessary tools that the students need." If students cannot get the special education services they are entitled to in a timely fashion it can compromise educational inclusion efforts. She recalled a prime example from her field placement experience:

This one student who is low functioning . . . the main thing that keeps him focused and actually helps to calm his anxiety is Play-Doh. It took them three weeks to get Play-Doh from the time the teacher asked the school board. Getting the supports to the child sooner will enable them to . . . participate more in an inclusive environment. So I think the time frame for planning purposes . . . [needs to be] shorter.

April also emphasized the importance of having an EA who has been prepared properly for their role in the special education team. She pointed out that many of the supervising EAs on placement have not gone through a pre-service EA program. April appreciated the wealth of knowledge the EAs had from their experiences, but she asserted

that an EA should be "A real impactful person . . . rather than [just] a warm body." This approach lends support to further expand on pre-service and in-service training opportunities for EAs. As EAs take on their new role in special education, it is absolutely essential they have the proper knowledge and skills to work with the most challenging and vulnerable student population (i.e., students with exceptionalities) (Giangreco et al., 2010). She concluded, "I think it should be mandatory that you should have this background [the ES program]."

Consistent with her definition of inclusion, which emphasized including everyone, April believed that EAs should provide educational support for all students in need (i.e., with and without exceptionalities). She expanded upon this idea of inclusive support, by reflecting on her role as an EA candidate on placement. She said, "I am there [on placement] to support the two specific children or students, but I am still engaging with the other kids. It makes them [the students with exceptionalities] feel less ostracized from the rest of the group." She believed that all students could benefit from additional support and by assisting all students, EAs would not contribute to the socially exclusion of students with exceptionalities (Katz et al., 2012).

Creating an inviting environment. In addition to more educational support for students with and without identified exceptionalities, April declared that it was essential to create an inviting environment for all students. That is, an environment where all students feel welcome to be contributing members to the classroom and the school. These suggestions reflected April's overall understanding of inclusion, which was that educational inclusion was about including all students rather than focusing on just students with disabilities. Despite this theoretical understanding of inclusion, April still

expressed apprehensions regarding the application of this idea, particularly with students who have severe disabilities. In theory though, educational inclusion to her, meant creating an environment where differences are celebrated and where every student has an opportunity to actively participate in their own learning. In addition, she felt the classrooms should be set up in such a way that it promotes inclusion for all learners. In this model, the focus shifts to the inclusion of the entire student population rather than specifically on students with disabilities. For April this starts by educating students and engaging in their curiosities about diversity. April viewed student differences as a teachable moment for all students. She explained that having open discussions with all of the students would create a more inclusive environment. These discussions, she argued, should focus on all types of differences (e.g., ability, race, sex, etc.) in a safe, controlled environment with knowledgeable facilitators. She felt this would allow students to safely explore their feelings and curiosities about student differences. Similar to how she teaches her daughters about diversity and acceptance. April believed that all students could benefit from having discussions about the different students with and without exceptionalities. She reinforced this idea when I asked her "What do you think is needed for inclusion to be successful?" She responded by saying:

Other than having [more support staff], I think that having the discussion with the rest of the students about understanding differences of all students, not just specifically the ones that have been diagnosed or [identified] with any kind of exceptionality. Creating an environment where, I guess differences are celebrated in a way. I think having a classroom that is open [and] having an inviting kind of room where all students can participate.

Barriers. Through the interview conversation I had with April, she identified two major barriers to inclusion—(1) poor attitudes and (2) power dynamics. When asked about barriers to educational inclusion April paused for a long time before identifying these barriers.

Poor attitudes. April believed the biggest barrier facing inclusive education was poor attitudes toward disability and inclusion. In particular, April was concerned with parents' attitudes. She recognized that her education and experiences have given her a positive outlook with regards to her own children being educated alongside students with exceptionalities. When she talked about how she informs her two daughters, however, she acknowledged that most parents she has come in contact with have apprehensions about inclusion. She said, "I think that unfortunately I am not the norm. I have heard some other parents speak . . . [about students] that have exceptionalities [and assert that they] should not be in the classroom." Parents' attitudes toward disability and inclusion could have a great impact on their children's attitudes. This is particularly important because April and the other participants in this study emphasized the importance of the social component of inclusion. If students develop negative attitudes toward inclusion it could comprise social opportunities for students with exceptionalities. April's comments about parents' attitudes intrigued me, so I inquired further by asking, "What are their [the parents'] big concerns?" April replied by saving:

I think they are worried that the teacher is going to focus too much on the student that needs the extra help and not on their own children. I think that they are afraid in some cases for their children's safety with behaviours that may arise because of certain exceptionalities.

April pointed out that sometimes parents' attitudes are shaped by the nature of the student's disability. She explained that parents are more likely to show compassion for students with physical disabilities, as compared to cognitive or behavioural disorders. She explained, "they would rather see a child in wheelchair . . . than deal with a child that has autism or any type of behavioural challenges. A wheelchair is something they can kind of wrap their head around." When considering the long history of education, inclusion is a relatively new practice/philosophy that many parents may not have fully experienced in school growing up. April stressed that EAs play an important role putting parents' minds at ease. She said from her experiences, "[Parents] almost have a sigh of relief knowing there is an EA in the room that is supporting that specific child or specific children."

April noticed that some teachers' attitudes can also negatively impact inclusion efforts. She observed that some teachers are concerned with the impact a student with a disability may have on the overall classroom culture. She said, "Teachers have a certain idea in mind of how they want the classroom to run and I think when there are students with exceptionalities . . . [they can] cause some kind of . . . [disruption] in that vision." Bennett (2009) pointed out that the classroom teacher is responsible for all of the students in their class, with and without exceptionalities. In addition, the classroom teacher should be directing EAs assigned to the students in their class. For some teachers, including students with exceptionalities in their classes may be viewed as a burden. April suggested that teachers needed to be more flexible to the unpredictable nature of special education. April emphasized the importance of experience in and knowledge of special education. In addition, she felt teachers and EAs need to work together to share the responsibilities of educational inclusion.

Power Dynamics. April observed some strong power dynamic issues in the school where she was placed for field placement. She found as an ES student it was difficult to suggest new ideas to her supervising EA. April expressed concerns about offending the EA by suggesting new strategies for the student they were supporting. April had learned a great deal in the ES program and was excited to apply these skills, but her supervising EA did not have this background. She explained, "I want to offer strategies to the EA I am [assigned to], but I also do not want to show her up by saying, 'you obviously don't know what you are doing [April laughed]." April was quick to point out, however, that the working professionals were also experiencing power dynamics issues. She observed that her supervising EA was experiencing a similar problem with the classroom teacher. She said, "I also see her [the EA] feeling that she may be stepping on the teacher's toes if she goes ahead and starts planning for this child or student." The EA role is becoming more instructional, which has resulted in some overlap between EAs' and teachers' duties. This overlap is not always met with collaboration, but rather with power dynamic issues. Poor communication regarding the division of labour between teachers and EAs can have a negative impact on the overall quality of special education delivery and can hinder the effectiveness of inclusive practices (Angelides et al., 2009). April felt that EAs should be collaborated with because they often have the most intimate knowledge of the students with special education needs. To illustrate this point, April recalled an experience with a behavioural specialist at the school. She said, "I can see . . . what will help the child because I am working one-on-one with them, but the people who set up the plans for this child only see them in planned visits that are in separate rooms from the classroom." April felt that the EAs should be consulted because the data the behavioural

specialist was collecting was contrived and did not reflect the day-to-day dealings with the student. This dynamic is especially important in this case because the data collected can have important implications on the special education strategies and services utilized.

Anne: "Inclusion means that you treat everyone with respect and kindness."

Anne's responses fit into all three of the dimensions of attitude. She emphasized the cognitive and affective dimensions of attitude by discussing her thoughts and feelings about inclusion through her stories. To a lesser extent, Anne's responses fell into the behavioural dimension when she discussed her experiences on placement and her future role as an EA.

Understanding of inclusion. For Anne, educational inclusion was about students with exceptionalities being included socially with their peers. She placed far less emphasis on academics. She asserted, however, that social inclusion could have a direct impact on students' academic successes. Anne explained that if students were excluded socially, they might grow to dislike school and may disengage from academics. Many of the students who receive special education services already struggle with academics, and social exclusion would only compound these learning difficulties. To illustrate this point Anne discussed her friend's child (who has an exceptionality). She shared, "Educational inclusion, to me its more about including the child socially. My girlfriend whose child has special needs, I have seen him fail horribly academically and I think it is a direct result of him not being included socially." This understanding of inclusion places a great deal of power in the hands of the students, who have shown apprehensions about befriending students with exceptionalities (Avramidis, 2013; de Boer et al., 2013; Pijl et

al., 2008).

Anne shared that prior to the ES program she had heard about educational inclusion from her experience as a bus driver for students with special needs. When I asked what impact the ES program has had on her attitudes toward educational inclusion, she asserted that the program had reinforced her existing ideas about educational inclusion rather than developed them. Anne said, "I think that they [the ES instructors] have given me . . . the real academic reasons behind [inclusion]. It is great to have the gut feeling, but then to read and learn about it [reinforced my beliefs]." In addition, Anne did not feel that inclusion had to take place in the general education classroom. She pointed out that students could be excluded in the general education classroom if inclusion strategies were improperly implemented. She recalled an experience from her field placement:

I noticed that the student [with an exceptionality] was turned to face the EA and the EA was very much working one-on-one with the student [at the back of the class]. It was very difficult because I was thinking, 'wouldn't it be better to place the wheelchair in a different position or differently so she was actual more a part of the actual class?'

Anne recognized that inclusion is more than a placement in the general education classroom. She pointed out that it is the overall experience for the students with special education needs that determines if a student is being included or not. She saw inclusion as more of a guiding philosophy or general principles that schools should promote in order to make students feel included and welcome. For Anne, this did not necessarily mean that students needed to be in the general education classroom as a prerequisite for inclusion.

She explained, "I think we can still achieve inclusion even if students go to a self-contained class because inclusion does not need to be just in the classroom. You can still include a self-contained class in the spirit of the entire school!" Anne explained that her overall understanding of inclusion is based on a set of core principles. She summed up her definition of inclusion by stating, "Inclusion means that you treat everyone with respect and kindness." She attributed this understanding of inclusion to her two placements where she recalled welcoming school cultures. Anne reflected on her field placement experience at a high school:

In the high school I was at, all the students had an IEP so [long pause] it's almost like a self-contained school because just about everybody had some kind of accommodation. But, it really felt like the teachers were invested in the students' success [and the] . . . well being of the students generally. So it really made me feel like it was a place where anyone could go and anyone would be welcome. By teachers I mean the EAs as well.

From her experiences at this high school, Anne grew to appreciate their inclusive school culture. This experience helped to shape her understanding of inclusion and ideals regarding its implementation. Interestingly, the students that attend the school are excluded from students without exceptionalities, but Anne shared that her field placement at this school embodied educational inclusion and played an important role in how she developed her understanding of this concept.

Attitude towards inclusion. Anne acknowledged that her attitudes toward educational inclusion have changed overtime. When she was a child, disability was part of her normal day because her father had a physical disability. In addition, she recalled

her experiences as a bus driver for students with special needs having a great impact on her attitudes toward inclusion. From her experiences on the bus, Anne came to the realization that students with exceptionalities were not so different compared to students without exceptionalities. She recalled a pivotal experience she had with her son that helped to shape her attitude. She reminisced:

I started driving a school bus for special needs kids when I was 22 or 23, so I was very young. I had a little baby and so this was just part of our daily life. We would go pick up these kids [students with exceptionalities] and bring them to school, no big deal. When my son started to go to kindergarten—he was getting ready to go to JK—he was super excited. He liked getting his backpack ready and that kind of stuff. One day he came up to me and he asked, 'when do I go pick up my wheelchair?' I looked at him and I said, 'what do you mean, you don't need a wheelchair.' He said, 'all the kids who go to school have a wheelchair, when do I get my wheelchair?' So that really made me realize that there was no difference between him and the kids [with exceptionalities] that he had gotten to know from when he was a baby to when he was ready to go to school. Those were the kids that he knew—those were school kids. For me, that moment was the real moment when I realized that there really is no difference. There was never the separation that kids should be in this class and other children should be in that class.

As a result of this experience, Anne's early attitudes toward educational inclusion were that students with exceptionalities should not be subjected to any kind of different treatment in education. At that time she believed that all students (with or without exceptionalities) should be together with their same-age peers (i.e., full-inclusion). Anne

explained that her attitudes toward educational inclusion have since changed as a result of the ES program. She has worked in both inclusive and segregated environments during her field placement experiences. These experiences in classroom settings have helped Anne to see the importance of evaluating each student's service delivery model on a case-by-case basis. Overall though, she supported including students with exceptionalities in the general education class. She shared how her attitude had shifted as a result of ES program:

I [now] recognize that there are some needs that are probably addressed better in a contained class, where I may not have felt that before being in a classroom [on field placement]. So I can see that there are benefits to contained classes now, but I still think that if inclusion is an option, it is probably the better option.

Being placed in a classroom setting helped Anne to see the challenges of full-inclusion and that every student has unique needs. In addition, the coursework in the ES program helped to educate Anne on the complexities of special education and educational inclusion. She recognized that her initial attitudes toward inclusion might have been overly optimistic and conceded that her experiences in the ES program helped to ground her attitudes with more realistic expectations.

Facilitating Factor. Anne identified knowledge as the main facilitating factor for her conceptualization of educational inclusion. She asserted that the more knowledge people have about disability and special education, the more successful inclusion could be. Much like April, she believed having meaningful conversations with students and allowing them to ask questions would help inclusion to be more successful. She argued that this would help students to be more comfortable with students who may be perceived

as different. She felt that children are much more accepting of individual differences compared to adults, but need an appropriate forum to properly learn about disability and special education. This perspective led her to think back to her son's early experiences on her bus:

Children do not see differences, they really don't. My son saw the cool wheelchair; he never realized that Joey couldn't walk. What he saw was that Joey got to go around in a wheelchair and that was pretty cool! I think that it is all about perception, so I think if we have a conversation and talk about things then maybe we can help.

Anne generalized her son's experience to assert that all children have the potential to see past differences and accept students with exceptionalities into their social circles. She emphasized the importance of educating students about disability and acceptance early on. Anne's suggestion to educate students early on fits nicely with her emphasis on social inclusion. Anne's suggestion recognized that students have a great deal of power in the social dynamics of school.

Anne also stressed the importance of educating staff in the school about disability and special education. As an emerging EA she acknowledged the importance of the ES program. When I asked about what she has learned in the ES program she shared, "you learn how to better include. Learning those skills and strategies and being able to appeal to all different types of learners and making sure that places are accessible." She also recognized the importance of continuing to learn and develop as a professional. She said, "[EAs need] to go out and get the knowledge and then share that knowledge!" She pointed out that in the information age we live in, educators are fortunate to have a

plethora of strategies at their disposal (e.g., token economies, social stories, "first-then" strategies, etc.). Anne viewed EAs as a great resource in special education for all staff and students. She believed that EAs needed to be role models to students and educate staff in the school on their area of expertise (i.e., special education). She explained:

I think that the staff are [sic] the ones who set the example for the students, so I think it should start with the educators. I think kids do whatever you show them to do. I mean kids are sponges, right? I think it [being a role model] is important because we [trained EAs] have had so much instruction on inclusion. I think it is very important for us to bridge the gaps that might be in other educators. I think we [EAs] need to be advocates, right?

Anne shared that her friend's son was stigmatized in the early years of his education because his kindergarten teacher socially ostracized him in front of his peers. The teacher constantly pointed him out as an example of what not to do in front of his classmates. Students pay close attention to educators' social cues, which can result in students being labeled. This was the case for Anne's friend's son, who struggled socially for many years to come. Anne pointed out that educational inclusion starts with the teachers and the EAs having an inclusive disposition and by trying to actively include all students. ES graduates will be better prepared to model inclusion because they will have learned the specific knowledge and skills in special education. This may be particularly important in elementary school because students are beginning to develop their early conceptualization of disability and educational inclusion.

Barriers. Anne discussed two main barriers to inclusion: (1) ignorance and (2) grouping.

Ignorance. Anne recognized that when educators do not necessarily have knowledge about disability and special education it could pose a barrier to educational inclusion. Anne recalled a story about a teacher who did not have the proper understanding of disability or special education and this ignorance resulted in her friend's son being treated inequitably.

My girlfriend tells me a story of when he [her friend's son] was little and he was in Kindergarten. The Kindergarten teacher would regularly . . . make an example of him and these kids have always gone to the same school together from the beginning. So he basically got stigmatized when he was little and that has followed him throughout his school career.

Anne's story about her friend's son points out the importance of knowledge and preparation for special education. This story showcases how ignorance or lack of knowledge can have a negative impact on special education delivery. Anne suggested that ignorance regarding disability could also lead to exclusion in the community. Anne shared another story from her childhood to showcase how lack of knowledge or ignorance can lead to poor treatment of people with disabilities in general. She recalled a trip she took as a child with her father:

There was this woman this one time when my dad was on a plane. My dad couldn't physically bend his leg and she was giving him a really hard time. She was saying that his leg was in the aisle way and he couldn't be sitting like that and that he had to bring his knee in. He said, 'my hip is fused straight and I cannot physically [move], I have to sit like this.' I don't think she was trying to be

malicious, I think she honestly didn't know and I think that is one of the biggest problems.

Anne discussed ignorance as a barrier to educational inclusion through her own stories, as well as the stories she has heard from those who are close to her (i.e., her friend). She pointed out that people with disabilities often require different treatment in order to break down barriers to inclusion, both in schools and in the community at large. Through these stories, Anne made a strong point about equity and pointed out that equal treatment for people with disabilities is not necessarily equitable.

Grouping. Anne asserted that inclusion is challenging to implement in the current education system. She felt that we have to revaluate the effectiveness of grouping students and teaching them a standardized curriculum. Anne elaborated:

I have a problem with taking chunks of people and grouping them without looking at them as individuals to say, 'What do you want learn?' [and] 'What are you ready to learn?' Sort of like how Kindergarten is student-directed, I think that there is a great place for that in all of education as long as it is regulated and it's guided. You know, it should be guided, but it should be individual.'

She thought that inclusion could be more successful if each individual student, both with and without exceptionalities, had his or her own personalized education program. She acknowledged that students with exceptionalities in Ontario have IEPs, but she thought that if everyone were on their own educational journey, students with exceptionalities might be better included because their experience would not be drastically different from that of the rest of the class.

Kelly: "We have to continue asking, is this the best thing for this student?"

Kelly mostly emphasized the behavioural and cognitive dimensions of attitude in her responses. She often explained her thoughts and beliefs by giving examples of situations she has been involved in, has observed, or in terms of planned behaviour for her future role as an EA. Her responses did have elements of the affective dimension, but to a much lesser extent. She asserted her feelings when discussing her frustrations with some of the current problems in the special education system and when talking about her personal experiences as a parent of a child who has a learning disability.

Understanding of inclusion. Kelly had a variety of experiences in special education to draw from. Growing up both of her brothers had learning disabilities and now her son has a learning disability as well. Through these experiences Kelly has come to understand inclusion as the educational setting that best fits the particular student's needs. She said concisely, "Inclusion to me . . . is involving the student [with an exceptionality] in the setting that's best for their success. It's about everyone having an opportunity." Kelly conceptualized educational inclusion as the environment and/or set of conditions, which best sets up the student with an exceptionality for success. This understanding acknowledged the uniqueness of each student and thus the importance of a case-by-case approach based on each student's individual needs. Kelly attributed her understanding of inclusion to her son, who has a learning disability. She recalled that the setting that was best for his success changed over time. She explained:

With my son it kind of really defined it for me when he was [slight pause while pondering the correct age] seventeen. When he was little he hated being pulled out [of class] because then he felt different . . . but in high school with the GLE

[General Learning Environment] program [a self-contained class], where they pull out kids that have some kind of learning disability and provide more support. That classroom is his favourite classroom because there he feels normal.

Kelly's understanding of educational inclusion came from a very personal place (i.e., her experiences with her brothers and son). She pointed out that successfully including students with exceptionalities in a general education class is not always possible because it doesn't work for all students. Through her recollection of her son's experience, she pointed out the importance of having an educational approach that is developmentally appropriate. Not only did she suggest that the special education approach should vary from one student to the next, but also from one year to another. She feared that students' special education services were not always re-evaluated and reported seeing IEPs that were simply cut and pasted from the previous year. Kelly's story of her son's experiences in elementary and high school illustrated how an individual student's readiness to be included in the regular classroom can play an important role in the success or failure of educational inclusion.

Kelly had a wealth of practical experiences with her son, but the ES program provided her with a theoretical understanding of educational inclusion. For Kelly, the theoretical and practical were very different and difficult to reconcile at times. As a result, her personal understanding of inclusion was a combination of theory and practice (with an emphasis on the practical components). She discussed the process of taking the theoretical and making it practical. She said, "Somehow you kind of merge these [theory and practice] into a tapestry of what is going to work for the kid or for the student." She acknowledged the importance of knowing the theories, but reiterated that every student is

unique and requires an individual approach.

Kelly acknowledged that making pedagogical decisions without a theoretical understanding of best practices from research could result in the adoption of ineffective approaches. Burns and Ysseldyke (2009) point out that the research to practice gap, a prevalent problem in education, also exists in special education. Their study points out the dangers of using ineffective strategies in special education (e.g., modality training) as opposed to evidence-based practice (e.g., direct instruction). Failure to use best practices can result in less effective special education services being provided, which can a pose a challenge to inclusive ideals. Kelly discussed the research to practice gap in special education by saying:

The theories we learned in class and the realities in the real world are completely different. We can talk about it all we want in theory . . . and in an ideal world this is what we are going to do . . . but the reality is when you hit the classroom and when things start changing . . . every student is different. What is good for one student may not be good for another student. I am shocked at how big the chasm is between the two [theory and practice].

There were aspects of both the practical and theoretical components in Kelly's overall understanding of educational inclusion. Her understanding of educational inclusion was most greatly influenced by her practical experiences with her son and through her field placements. Through these personal experiences with her brothers and son, she observed the pragmatic challenges presented by educational inclusion. As such, Kelly expressed her appreciation for theoretical ideals, but built flexibility into her understanding of educational inclusion because of the capricious nature of special education.

Attitude towards inclusion. Overall, Kelly did not support including students with exceptionalities in the general education class. She felt strongly that educational inclusion does not necessarily benefit students with or without disabilities. She expressed concerns that students with exceptionalities can cause disruptions for the rest of the class. She said, "If you put a child who is very low functioning in a regular classroom, how much is that going to draw away or disturb the classroom for the other twenty-eight students?" She also felt that this approach fails to consider what is best for each individual student and was concerned about the practicality of educating students with special needs alongside typically developing peers. When asked what her attitude towards educational inclusion was, Kelly replied, "I struggle with [inclusion] because sometimes ... I wonder if it is the best thing for the student [with an exceptionality]. I think that these kids are overwhelmed in [regular] classrooms. I mean we are setting them up to fail!" Kelly's overall attitude appeared to be shaped by her concern for the success or failure of students with exceptionalities, which may be a reflection of her experiences with her son. She asserted that students with exceptionalities have a better chance of academic success in a separate learning environment. She expressed concerns that a general education class does not account for students' individual needs. For example, the environment in a regular class is set up for general education and not specifically for students with exceptionalities. Students with exceptionalities require a specialized approach to meet their unique needs. To illustrate this point Kelly recalled an experience from her most recent field placement in an inclusive automotive class:

I work with high school students who are trying to learn life skills so they are in an automotive class. We bring five children with autism into an automotive class.

You know when a fan belt squeaks [and] you hear that really horrible sound. Well we have 5 students who are sensitive to sound and they went in all directions where there are cars and equipment. So, okay is this the best place for these students? Are they really learning automotive skills? Is this classroom the best space for them? Two of them are just on edge as soon as they get in there. What are they are going to gain from that? I don't know if it is justified.

Kelly questioned the effectiveness of educational inclusion. She felt that students with exceptionalities would have a better opportunity to learn in a more structured and supportive learning environment. She expressed concerns that the general education class might be inappropriate, particularly for students with severe disabilities. She said, "Children who are medically fragile [and] very low functioning . . . their version of education is completely different than the general classroom." Students with severe disabilities helped to illustrate the importance of her stance, but overall Kelly did not openly support educational inclusion regardless of the level of functioning of the student. This differed from some of the other participants who argued inclusion was ideal when possible. Kelly concluded that inclusive practices could sometimes exclude students with exceptionalities. She explained:

Sometimes I think [inclusion] points out their disability more than it includes them. It makes them [students with exceptionalities] realize their differences and for some students it points out their struggles and their challenges. You bring a kid into a class with an EA and he is included, but he is still different because he is the only child with an adult next to them working one-on-one.

Kelly discussed the social challenges of inclusion, a point that was emphasized by both April and Anne. What makes Kelly's perspective different was she felt that including students in the general education class could exclude students with exceptionalities. In fact, she expressed concerns that the presence of an EA could socially exclude these students. This concern may be valid because recent research has shown that students felt less motivated to socialize with their classmates who were working closely with an EA (Katz et al., 2012). This is an important consideration that requires further investigation when discussing the effectiveness of EAs in inclusive classrooms.

Facilitating factors. Through our discussion, Kelly pointed out factors that could help to enhance educational inclusion efforts. She discussed two factors that she believed would enhance the likelihood of students with exceptionalities experiencing success in a general education class. The two major facilitating factors that she identified were: (1) having more of a team approach and (2) educators having up-to-date knowledge and skills.

Team approach. During the interview with Kelly, she discussed several team members including: teachers, EAs, special education resource teachers (SERTs), principals, parents, and students with exceptionalities. She had two very different field placement experiences. At one of her placements she observed a collaborative special education team and at the other she did not see this team approach. She felt that the collaborative team was much more effective in including students with exceptionalities. She said, "We learn from other EAs . . . [through an] exchange of information . . . as a community of learners. In my first placement at the elementary school it was a community of learners. The SERTs and the EAs were sharing information."

In particular, Kelly felt that EAs had an important role to play in the special education team. It was not surprising that this was a common assertion made by the ES students interviewed. Kelly expressed concerns about EAs' position within the special education team. Even though EAs often work most closely with students who have exceptionalities, they often are perceived as the least important member of the team. Kelly pointed out that many veteran EAs have come to accept their place at the bottom of the educational staff hierarchy and she asserted this might hinder their effectiveness in the school.

There are clear power dynamic issues among some teachers and EAs. Foucault discussed the importance of the relationship between knowledge and power. He said, "I see nothing wrong in the practice of a person who, knowing more than others in a specific game of truth, tells those others what to do, teaches them, and transmits knowledge and techniques to them" (as cited in Downing, 2008, p. 102). Teachers have traditionally had more knowledge and expertise than EAs in education because the EA role was not originally an instructional position. Groom (2006) pointed out that "The [EA] role itself has . . . undergone a rapid transformation from that of the classroom 'helper'—assisting the teacher in general classroom organization—to one that is more specifically directed to support the teaching and learning process" (p. 199). I would argue that with the emergence of pre-service programs such as the ES program, EAs now have what French and Raven (1959) called an expert power base in special education. Teachers do, however, have a legitimate power base because they are appointed to direct EAs in their classrooms (OME, 2004). Kelly expressed frustration with those EAs who have accepted their position as "just the EAs". She exclaimed, "I am being taught that

we're an EA and we are this child's advocate! So let's fight for [special education and educational inclusion] getting better."

Kelly predicted that in good time EAs would become more valued members of the special education team if they continue to use effective strategies and showcase their successes with the most challenging and vulnerable student population (i.e., students with exceptionalities). One of the most important working relationships in the special education team is between teachers and EAs. Teachers and EAs in an inclusive classroom should work closely together. Kelly felt that teachers needed to embrace EAs in their classroom as experts and work with them as equals. She explained:

[I think it is beneficial when] teachers are really in tune with understanding that the EA has the experience, has learned a little more about it [special education], [and] knows the student [with an exceptionality] better. Generally we work with the student all day long. The teacher has 28 students [so] . . . I think it should be a partnership . . . [where teachers and] EAs use more of a team-based approach.

Kelly recognized the importance of the collaboration between teachers and EAs, but acknowledged that this dynamic still needed some refining. She noticed that teachers and EAs did not always work well together.

In addition to educators working together in the special education team, Kelly also emphasized the importance of working together with parents. Kelly talked about her son who has a learning disability and pointed out that she understands the perspective of parents and the challenges associated with having a child who has a disability. Kelly saw parents as experts on their children and as a great resource to the special education team when utilized properly. She explained:

I have seen the struggles my son went through. When I go into the classroom coming from the perspective I have, I know what the parents feel like. So when you hear a teacher complaining about a parent who has children with special needs . . . you have to stand back and realize that that parent has to deal with that child 24/7.

Many parents/guardians may not have the formal training in special education or disability studies, but they live it everyday. Having had this experience as a parent of a child with an LD, Kelly knew just how important the parents' perspectives are.

Lastly, she also emphasized that educators can learn a great deal from the students with exceptionalities as well. She said, "We learn from the students first and foremost [by] . . . listening to the students. They are our best teachers and I think it is very easy to do." Kelly and I discussed the importance of including students with exceptionalities themselves in the decision making process and the importance of teaching students how to self-advocate. Kelly concluded, in order to enhance the likelihood of successful educational inclusion, all members of the special education team need to be working together toward common goals. The more stakeholders who collaborate and positively contribute to the special education team the better.

Up-to-date knowledge and skills. Kelly also emphasized the importance of educators having up-to-date knowledge and skills for 21st century special education. Kelly felt that proper preparation in special education was essential in order to offer students evidence-based strategies that could help to foster their success and independence in an inclusive context. When asked about her experiences in the ES program and how this has prepared her for modern special education in Ontario, she

shared, "[The ES program] gives me a bigger toolbox to play with. It kind of gives me a better perspective." Kelly appreciated the education she has received in the ES program at Moxie College, but recognized that educators have to continue learning in order to keep their knowledge and skills up-to-date. She felt this was especially important because special education is constantly evolving. Special education in Ontario has changed extensively over the past 35 years. It is paramount that educators who have a direct impact on special education service delivery understand and can apply the most relevant and effective practices.

Kelly acknowledged that this field requires a commitment to lifelong learning and ongoing professional development. She explained, "I think [I] . . . still have to keep learning [and] continuously educating myself and staying connected. Once I am totally out of school I have to make sure that I keep the new information coming." There are various ways that educators can stay current in the field of special education. For example, educators can take advantage of in-service training, professional workshops, professional organizations, online forums, etc. An ES program is a great starting point for aspiring EAs. The program offers students a foundation of knowledge and skills in special education through a combination of intensive coursework and field placements.

Barriers. Kelly identified two major barriers to educational inclusion: (1) educators are inadequately prepared for special education and (2) the education system attempts to normalize students with disabilities.

Inadequately prepared for special education. Kelly pointed out that some teachers, EAs, and even principals working in special education have not been adequately trained to implement the most effective evidence-based practices in special education.

She found that teachers' understandings of special education concepts varied greatly from one classroom to the next. In terms of dispositions, she observed that some teachers were very understanding of students with exceptionalities and others were very rigid in their practices. Kelly thought that these differences were a result of a lack of knowledge and experience with special education. She explained:

I think teachers need to learn more about special education. I have been in so many different classrooms, even in just these six months [in the ES program] and I am surprised by the different levels of understanding of special ed. for teachers from classroom to classroom . . . but I think that will change with more training with the teacher's program going to two years now. I am hoping they would put more than one special education class into that.

Kelly felt strongly that pre-service programs and on the job experiences play an important role in preparing EAs and teachers for the challenges associated with educational inclusion. She implied that the more experience one has with special education, through training and work experience, the more prepared they would be to implement effective strategies that promote educational inclusion. In addition, much like the participants in this study, everyone has a slightly different understanding of educational inclusion. Kelly has observed that these different understandings of inclusion among educators have led to differences in how special education is delivered in each classroom. She elaborated, "I have seen . . . an amazingly inclusive classroom, but in the same school I have seen a classroom that was so uninviting it was scary, but that was uninviting for all students, [not just students with exceptionalities]." Classroom teachers play an extremely important role setting up an inclusive learning environment. As Kelly

points out, setting up a classroom that is welcoming to all learners is an important step toward educational inclusion.

Kelly was also concerned that some EAs may not be connecting theory to practice. In particular, she was concerned about EAs who have not completed a preservice program. She explained:

Some of the [EAs] . . . working with kids have been hired without any training. I kind of made the assumption that every EA had all this [pre-service] training [laughs] and it is not always the case. You can have an EA who has been doing this for fifteen years and has such a great understanding of the kids, but has no theory to back what they know.

All EAs have experience working in special education settings, but not all EAs have the academic qualifications to guide and support their approaches in the classroom. Kelly and other participants in this study, who are immersed in the ES program, noticed that EAs without these credentials were often unaware of the different evidence-based strategies that exist. Kelly pointed out that EAs needed to be educated on the variety of strategies that exist in special education, as well as critically appraise their work to measure the effectiveness of their approaches.

Kelly even expressed concerns that some principals with whom she had interacted with did not have a great deal of experience in or knowledge of special education. She recalled an interaction she had with a principal, "I was talking to a principal . . . about a student [who was] stimming and she was like, 'I have no idea what you are talking about.' So it kind of shocked me!" Stimming is a self-stimulating behaviour (e.g., hand flapping) that is common among students with ASD. Kelly implied that if the principal

does not have knowledge about special education, they would be less equipped to meet the needs of diverse learners in their school.

Kelly pointed out that some teachers and EAs are inadequately prepared to work with one another in the special education milieu. She observed during her field placement experience that the two professionals did not know how to effectively work together. She explained, "A lot of teachers don't know what to do with the EA. I have seen a lot of friction between teachers and the EAs." EAs are supposed to be taking direction from teachers, but not all classroom teachers have a background in special education to effectively direct EAs. Kelly expressed hopes that the new two-year bachelor of education program in Ontario would more adequately prepare teachers for special education. The friction Kelly observed may be present because the teacher and EAs do not have a strong understanding of what an EA's role entails. She said, "I was shocked that the EA role does not have description within the [Ontario] Ministry of Education documentation. [The EA is staff working] one-on-one with these students." An EA's role is often complex and ever-changing depending on the needs of the student(s) to whom they are assigned.

Normalization. Kelly felt that the education system is striving to assimilate students with disabilities, rather than embracing them as different. She thought that it was important to acknowledge everyone's differences because every classroom has diverse learners. She emphasized the importance of recognizing that both students with and without disabilities are different. She explained:

We are all different! Right? I am different than you . . . but it is that idea that we kind of have to say we are all normal. We should say, 'this is who I am, these are

my strengths, these are my weaknesses, love me!' Right? Everyone who walks into a class brings their strengths and weaknesses and I think when we try to blend them . . . sometimes that is the problem.'

She asserted that the current system of special education attempts to remedy or fix students with exceptionalities in an attempt to bring them closer to a prescribed normal. As an alternative, Kelly recommended taking a strength-based approach with all students. That is, emphasize students' individual strengths in order to enhance the overall collective classroom experience. This approach presupposes that all students have strengths that can be utilized to create a more inclusive and diverse learning environment. This approach, she argued, would help to include all students because all students have something meaningful to contribute to the learning environment. By acknowledging their differences, she argued, all students could learn from one another. In our discussions, Kelly acknowledged the benefits of classroom diversity. She emphasized that every student is different and brings a unique perspective into the classroom. Overall, Kelly had several valuable suggestions to enhance the quality of educational inclusion efforts.

Grace: "[The ES] program is phenomenal... it prepares us to be EAs."

Grace's responses feel into all three dimensions of attitude. The cognitive dimension was most strongly represented because she often asserted her thoughts/beliefs about inclusion as an educational philosophy. She discussed behavioural components of attitude when recalling field placement experiences and while discussing some strategies that she plans to implement as a working EA. Finally, the affective component was not expressed outright in her responses, but there were times when she showcased her feelings through non-verbal cues.

Understanding of inclusion. At the beginning of our interview, Grace's definition of educational inclusion was simply, "letting students with exceptionalities . . . have the ability to learn in a classroom just like others do." As we discussed this concept in more detail though, she began to extend her understanding to include the school and the community at large. She elaborated by saying, "I think [inclusion] is more than a place. It is outside at recess time, in activities, and games in gym class. Inclusion should be everywhere really. It should be outside in the real world." This understanding of educational inclusion implied that inclusive strategies should extend beyond the classroom into other facets of the school environment. Grace pointed out that it is not enough for students with exceptionalities to be included in the class, if they are excluded elsewhere (e.g., at recess, at soccer after school, etc.). This understanding of inclusion lent more support for creating an overall welcoming school environment (a concept that has been discussed by other participants in this study). By adopting a school or board wide inclusive philosophy, schools can create a culture that is welcoming for all students.

Grace attributed her understanding of educational inclusion to the ES program. She admitted, "Before [I enrolled in the ES program] I honestly thought that . . . even if [a student] had a slight disability they were [placed] in a different classroom." Her experiences in the field prior to the ES program were mostly working with individuals who have disabilities in clients' homes and in the community. The ES program helped Grace to contextualize disability in special educational settings. Her previous assumptions helped to point out the importance of coursework and field placement experiences prior to working in special education.

Attitude towards inclusion. Grace's attitudes toward educational inclusion were mixed. She said, "To be quite honest, yes I think [inclusion] is a great thing in some respects, but in the other respects I find it a bit of a challenge." She felt that a general education class provides students with exceptionalities with great opportunities to advance their social and academic skills. While she acknowledged the benefits, Grace also asserted that educational inclusion is not for everyone. Overall, Grace's attitude towards inclusion was summed up when she proclaimed, "I agree with inclusion to a point. High functioning [students] should be in the mainstream regular class . . . and I think the severe students should be in a separate school where they can benefit from the life skills program." Grace felt that decisions on service delivery models should be based on the individual student's level of functioning. She supported including students who are high functioning in the general education class, but did not support including students who are low functioning. Furthermore, she asserted that students who have moderate disabilities should be considered on a case-by-case basis. She shared that she has developed this attitude towards inclusion through her coursework and through her field placement experiences. She recalled an experience from her first field placement experience that helped to shape her attitude toward educational inclusion:

There was this student [during field placement] who was non-verbal and who was developmentally delayed in all areas. For a student like that, I find it hard for them to be included in the classroom. I think they would benefit more in a contained classroom . . . where they can get that one-on-one support and at their level as well.

From her experiences, Grace discovered that students with severe needs might not benefit the same way as others from being included in the general education class. Grace pointed out that students who are low functioning could benefit both academically and socially from a separate learning environment. She felt that a separate environment would be more developmentally appropriate and give students with severe disabilities more of an opportunity to interact with their peers who are at similar levels of functioning. After much discussion, Grace asserted that students with severe disabilities should be educated in a specialized school. She thought this would also be more appropriate for medically fragile students to access the specialized care they require.

Facilitating Factor. Grace identified one major factor that she felt could enhance inclusive education—student awareness. She asserted that students should be educated about special education and different disabilities early on to help decrease fears and feelings of uncertainty. She said, "[Students] are unaware [of disability] . . . but I am sure if they knew, then they would want to be friends with them [the students with exceptionalities]." Grace implied that if students were educated on disability content, they would be more open to developing social relationships with students who have exceptionalities.

Grace felt that students needed more knowledge about special education and disability. She asserted, "[We should be] introducing the student [with an exceptionality] to the rest of the class. Maybe explain what autism is to the grade three students who don't understand why she [the girl with autism] is a bit different." Grace thought that if students were made aware of the differences and similarities among all students with and

without disabilities early on then students with exceptionalities would find more success socially. She said:

[We should explain things] the first week . . . so they [students with exceptionalities] have friends to play with. [If they had more friends] when they are out on the playground, they wouldn't get bullied. I just think some kind of student awareness [is important].

Grace's suggestion to teach disability knowledge/awareness reflected her overall understanding that inclusion needs to be everywhere. The teachers and EAs cannot always be present to help include students with exceptionalities, especially in social contexts (e.g., out on the playground). Grace recognized that students hold a great deal of power when it comes to social inclusion. She felt that there would be more of an opportunity for social success if students were more knowledgeable about special education and disability.

Barrier. Grace also identified a factor that she believed posed a barrier to inclusive education. The barrier she observed was that educators were using non-evidence-based strategies in special education. Grace observed on her placement that EAs and other educational staff were not using the evidence-based strategies that she had been learning about in the ES program. She felt that if educators took the time to learn and use more effective strategies, it would serve to enhance the success of special education and ultimately facilitate a more inclusive approach. She recalled an experience with her supervising EA while on field placement where the EA was not using an effective strategy. Grace recalled, "The EA [would say], 'I am going to write a note to your mom!' She has been an EA for 20 years and I respect her, but for me that bothers me

because . . . it just sounds like a punishment." Regarding this experience, I asked Grace, "Is that not the way you have been trained?" She replied by saying:

No, we have not been trained this way in this program. We have been trained . . . [to use] token economies systems, reward systems, [etc.]. I am looking for something like a first and then. [For example,] 'first we do ten questions of a math sheet, then we can play 5 minutes on the computer.' I need to know what she likes, instead of 'I am going to write a bad note to your mom.' I don't know [Grace looked concerned and paused for a moment] . . . I cannot do that to my students.

From her experiences, Grace observed that some educators (i.e., EAs and teachers) might not have the knowledge and/or skills in order to utilize more effective strategies in special education. Special education is evolving quickly and it can be a challenge to stay current with the most up-to-date strategies. For this reason Grace emphasized the importance of preparation for special education through pre-service and in-service training. She spoke highly of her pre-service experiences by saying, "[the ES] program is phenomenal . . . it prepares us to be EAs." She felt that the program has helped to make her an expert in special education, especially since very few working professionals she encountered had the most up-to-date specialized knowledge and skills that she had learned in the ES program. She said,

I feel I would be more of an expert than the teacher would be. The teacher is an expert at assessing, evaluating, doing the curriculum stuff. I believe that I will be more of an expert on working with my students. This program has helped me be one [and] . . . I would like to share my knowledge with staff.

Grace discussed a host of strategies from her coursework and was able to use evidence-based practices on some occasions during her field placement experiences. She recognized that the ES program is fairly new and not everyone has had an opportunity to learn about all the most up-to-date strategies in special education. She wanted to help prepare others for special education by sharing the knowledge and skills she has learned in the ES program.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Each of the four participants in this narrative inquiry research study had a unique perspective. All four of the interviewees shared rich lived experiences from their personal, educational, and professional lives. The participants shared their stories with me and reflected upon the importance of these experiences in how they have conceptualized their understandings and attitudes toward educational inclusion. The participants in the current study emphasized experiences both within the ES program and their life experiences prior to the ES program. All four women recognized that the ES program had had an impact (to varying degrees) on their overall attitude towards educational inclusion. For example, Anne pointed out that the ES program had simply refined her existing beliefs about inclusion, whereas Grace acknowledged that the ES program completely shaped her understanding of educational inclusion. Within the ES program all four of the participants placed a heavy emphasis on the field placement component of ES program by citing examples from their field placement experiences during the interviews. Outside of the ES program, all four of the participants also had extensive experience in special education/disability services. Anne and Kelly admitted that their significant life events (e.g., Anne's experience driving her bus or Kelly's experience with her son) had a major impact on their attitudes toward educational inclusion. This is not surprising since all four of the participants were mature students. In addition, three of the four participants were in the accelerated ES program, which requires students to have a prior experience in the field or a related diploma.

The participants' interview transcripts were analyzed through an in-depth thematic analysis that resulted in three major themes emerging from the data. The

interview transcripts were read over several times. The first read through was to identify the patterns in the data from the interview questions. As presented in Chapter Four, the interview questions I asked gathered information about participants' (1) understandings of educational inclusion, (2) attitudes toward education inclusion, (3) facilitating factors for educational inclusion, and (4) barriers to educational inclusion. I sorted the participants' responses into these four categories. Next, I analyzed the data more deeply by looking for similarities among participant responses. Each participant had a different interpretation and perspective of educational inclusion, but some similarities were found among the four participants and were identified as themes.

Thematic analysis of the data revealed three key themes: (1) Applying inclusion theory to practice, (2) EAs: ambassadors for inclusion, and (3) A prepared special education team. Collectively, the four women interviewed produced meaningful ideas and I will discuss these three themes in more detail, as well as present recommendations for policy, practice, and research in the field of special education.

Theme 1: Applying Inclusion Theory to Practice

In their responses to the interview questions, participants emphasized their practical experiences in special education (e.g., field placements, work experiences, etc.). Experiential learning opportunities in special education coupled with the specialized coursework help to prepare ES students for a career as an EA in special education settings. It is not surprising that the ES students stressed the application of theory to practice because CAAT programs across the province place a heavy emphasis on employability skills and practical applications of knowledge (Colleges Ontario, 2013). Overall, the interviewees generally supported educational inclusion, but they all held less

than optimistic attitudes toward full-inclusion. In particular, three of the four participants argued that students with high needs (behaviourally, medically, or otherwise) might not be good candidates for inclusion in the general education classroom. Almost all the participants expressed that each student's unique needs should take the highest priority when making service delivery decisions. These special needs can take a variety of forms (e.g., academic needs, behavioral challenges, etc.). In general, the participants asserted that students with exceptionalities should be placed in the most enabling environment that best sets the student up for academic and social successes. Kelly pointed out that the most enabling educational setting might change as a student develops over time and should be constantly reevaluated. Two of the ES students interviewed emphasized the importance of having different service delivery options so that students could be placed in the best educational environment on a case-by-case basis. These responses echo concerns about full-inclusion presented by Kauffman and colleagues (2002). That is, students with severe behavioural and emotional disorders would benefit more from a self-contained educational environment.

Three of the participants agreed that inclusion is a good idea in theory and that ideally students should be included. All of the participants in this study, however, also pointed out the challenges of educational inclusion in practice. This distinction between theory and practice led to what Sikes and colleagues (2007) called "yes, but . . ." statements about inclusion from the participants. These "yes, but . . ." statements often start with a general agreement with the theory and end with a concern about the practical application. For example, Kelly made a "yes, but . . ." statement. When she was asked about inclusion she said, "yes, but sometimes I think it points out their disability more

than it includes them." The "yes, but . . ." phenomenon has been observed with in-service EAs in previous studies (Mackenzie, 2011; Sikes et al., 2007). It appears that much like working EAs, pre-services EAs also struggle to reconcile the ideals of inclusion with the challenges they experiences in practice. The "yes, but . . ." phenomenon is not exclusive to EAs and educational inclusion. In fact, Marshall and Ward (2004) pointed out that educational leaders often make "yes, but . . ." statements about social justice issues. In this study they discovered that principals and other leaders tended to agree with the need for social justice in schools, but found it challenging to fully implement. One of Marshall and Ward's (2004) participants pointed out, "At the rhetorical level nobody would disagree with providing children a good education" (p. 36). In the current study, the ES students' attitudes were also concerned with all students' overall educational experiences. One important point discussed by the participants was that education inclusion is a relatively new concept and there is still a lot of room for improvement. "Yes, but . . . " statements help to critically analyze the effectiveness of educational inclusion in practice, which will only better prepare special educators to work toward more inclusive ideals in the future.

The participants in the current study believed that the application of inclusion should be for all learners, not just students with special education needs. They pointed out that every learner is unique and that diversity should serve to enhance the learning experience for all students. The participants felt that in practice, inclusion was more than simply educating students with disabilities in the general education class. For the ES students, inclusion was about nurturing a positive school culture where all students felt welcome and accepted. Most important to the participants was the social component of

inclusion. Anne even asserted that the social experience of inclusion was directly correlated with the academic experience of inclusion. That is, if the student is included socially with his/her peers, they will be more likely to have academic successes.

Theme 2: EAs: Ambassadors for inclusion

Not surprisingly, the ES students interviewed placed a premium on educational support and the role of the EA in the special education team. They felt that EAs could help to better include students with exceptionalities in the classroom by providing them with specialized support. Much like Mackenzie (2011) the ES students viewed EAs as essential to the successful implementation of inclusive education. April pointed out that many students with exceptionalities are dependent on one-on-one support from EAs, and without this support, inclusion would be impossible for these students. Overall the participants strongly asserted that when trained properly and implemented correctly, EAs could further advance educational inclusion.

Grace argued that EAs are the foremost experts on their students because they work so closely with them. In addition, many EAs have specialized knowledge and skills in special education and in using evidence-based practices. In the past EAs did not have as much preparation as teachers, but now the ES program offers pre-service EAs specialized knowledge to which other staff in the school does not have access. All of the participants felt that trained EAs should work with and prepare other staff members in the school on special education's best practices. In particular, the ES students felt a responsibility to share the knowledge they had learned in the ES program with EAs who have not had this pre-service experience and with teachers who have not received this level of preparation for special education.

Unfortunately, the participants observed that in many cases EAs are not treated as experts in the special education team. Role confusion between teachers and EAs has been well documented in the literature (for example see Angelides et al., 2009) and was a concern for the participants in this study as well. The participants observed role confusion between teachers and EAs on their field placements and asserted that role confusion led to power dynamic issues in the classroom. The participants observed that EAs were often treated as low-level staff with little to contribute to the learning environment. Grace shared that she faced negativity from school staff because of her desire to be an EA. Grace said, "The teachers are saying, why are you becoming EAs, why are you doing this, there is so much more you can do. They are just negative about it." In fact, two of the participants discussed power dynamics between teachers and EAs in detail during their interview. They observed that EAs have little say in the special education team, but are asked to work directly with the students with exceptionalities. The ES students reported that this created additional challenges for them on placement because they did not want to "step on someone's toes". Nevertheless, the ES students reported that they made efforts to work with the system to support their assigned student as best as possible.

Kelly observed on her placement that working EAs were worn out and did not bother to assert themselves in the special education team because they had learned overtime that their contributions were not taken seriously in many cases. She pointed out that EAs could contribute more to inclusive education by being role models and advocates for students in special education. Now that EAs are receiving extensive preparation (i.e., through the ES program), there is a need to establish EAs as respected

professionals in the school. This will allow EAs to contribute more to the special education team, which may advance the quality of educational inclusion.

Theme 3: A Prepared Special Education Team

Special education has evolved greatly in recent years. As a result, research on best practices is constantly being refined. As such, the participants in the current study emphasized the importance of all educators having up-to-date training in order to implement best practices with students who have exceptionalities. During their field placement experiences, all of the participants observed a need for more training. Participants indicated that EAs, teachers, and even principals in some cases did not seem to have adequate training in special education. The ES program helps to address the need for EAs' pre-service preparation. Students in the ES program are required to take several specialized classes and complete field placements in special education settings. In contrast, teachers do not have nearly as many experiences in special education during their pre-service program. This may be changing with the Bachelor of Education programs in Ontario expanding to two years. In fact, the 2014 Registration Guide from the OCT stipulates, "As of September 1, 2015, Ontario's teacher education program will change . . . [to] include an enhanced focus in areas such as special education [emphasis added], how to teach using technology, and diversity" (OCT, 2014, p. iii).

Despite the disproportional amount of pre-service training in special education that ES students receive compared to pre-service teachers, once hired, teachers have far more opportunities for in-service training compared to EAs. Most school boards offer a host of professional development opportunities for teachers. In addition, teachers can take AQ (additional qualification) courses in special education (i.e., parts one, two, and

specialist levels). These AQ courses are optional and are not a requirement for teaching in an inclusive general education class. In addition, teachers can potentially receive incentives (e.g., pay grid increases) for advancing their credentials with AQ courses. Several studies have indicated that EAs desire more training (Abbott et al., 2011; Giangreco et al., 2012; Glazzard, 2011; Moran & Abbott, 2002). The participants in the current study also expressed a need to continue updating their credentials after the ES program and expressed a desire to stay current with their knowledge and skills in special education. Both Kelly and Anne felt they would have to educate themselves in order to keep their knowledge and skills up-to-date. This may be due to the lack of in-service training available to EAs.

Kelly pointed out that special education should be delivered as a team effort. In order to be more effective, all team members need to be working together toward common goals. Collaboration can become challenging when one or more of the team members do not have the appropriate knowledge and/or skills required to implement best practices in special education. Sometimes when educators are not trained with the proper strategies, they will make decisions based on their instinct rather than using evidence-based practices. For example, Grace recalled a situation on her placement where a student with Down's syndrome in a grade three class was not completing her seatwork. Grace's supervising EA was resorting to punishment threats to modify behaviour. The EA threatened to write a negative note home to the student's mother if she did not complete her work. Grace expressed her discontent with this approach and expressed that she would have liked to use an approach based on the principles of ABA with the student to modify her latent behaviour (i.e., first-then). ABA is an effective strategy for students

with developmental disabilities, but represents only one of several evidence-based approaches that can be utilized (Dillenburger & Keenan, 2009).

Recommendations for Policy

Ontario has existing policies and documentation that helps to structure the implementation of inclusive practices across the province. For example, Policy Program Memorandum (PPM) 119 states, "all publicly funded school boards are required to develop, implement, and monitor an equity and inclusive education policy" (OME, 2013b). In general, special education policies in Ontario advocate for inclusive education, but Ontario still maintains a hierarchy of service delivery models to meet the diverse needs of all students. Therefore, full inclusion is not mandatory for all students. Participants' attitudes were in line with the OME's mandates and policies. Three of the four ES students interviewed agreed that inclusion is the best option when possible, but also pointed out the importance of having a variety of service delivery options to meet the individual needs of each student with an exceptionality.

All of the participants in this study discussed the challenge of including students who are low-functioning/high needs. As such, one policy recommendation would be for the province to develop documentation on the best practices for including students with low-functioning/high needs disabilities. The participants in this study did not operationally define low functioning, high needs or severe disability, but gave examples of students from their placement who differed significantly from their classmates in one domain or another (e.g., intellectually, behaviourally, etc.). Some examples given by the participants included students who had a behavioural disorder, developmental disability or who were medically fragile. Existing documentation from the OME is designed to help

educators better include students with exceptionalities in general, but there is not specific documentation on students who are low functioning. Some of these documents include: Learning for All (OME, 2013c), Education for All (OME, 2005), and the IEP Resource Guide (2004). For example, Ontario's Learning for All document discusses the importance of Universal Design for Learning (UDL) in order to better include all learners (OME, 2013c). According to the Learning for All document, "the aim of UDL . . . is to provide access to the curriculum for all students, and to assist educators in designing products and environments to make them accessible to everyone, regardless of age, skills, or situation" (p. 14). Some policies have been developed to assist with educating the most challenging students with exceptionalities. For example PPM 140 requires educators to use applied behaviour analysis (ABA) with students who have ASD (OME, 2007). A document that addresses the specific challenges associated with working with students who have severe disabilities may allow students who are low functioning to be included for at least part of the school day with their same-age peers. If educators, such as the participants in this study, are uneasy about including students who are low functioning, this may pose a barrier to equity and inclusion.

As long as the hierarchy of service delivery models is being utilized in Ontario, the province should develop clear educational policies to assist with service delivery decisions. These decisions can have a tremendous impact on a student's academic and social development. Literature has suggested that including students with exceptionalities in the regular classroom could have social (Cairns & McClatchey, 2013) and academic (Ruijs, & Peetsma, 2009) benefits. The social and academic impact of a given service delivery model, however, would be greatly depend on the individual student and several

other accompanying factors (e.g., level of functioning, social skills, etc.). A tool or resource with clearer criteria could help with the decision-making process and would be beneficial for parents, students, and the special educational team. A policy tightly coupled to practice, such as the one recommend here, could benefit the special education team by taking out any ambiguity or bias in the decision making process. One of the drawbacks, however, would be that the policy would leave less room for individual interpretation (Weick, 1976). Of course, the final placement decision would still be made by the IPRC on a case-by-case basis, after taking into consideration the unique needs of each individual student.

In recent years, EAs have taken on an integral role in special education. Despite the importance of EAs in special education, there are very few provincial policies in place regarding EAs in Ontario. For example, Kelly pointed out that the OME does not clearly define the EA's role in the special education team. This may be part of the reason why teachers and EAs experience role confusion and power dynamic issues. Defining the EA's role is especially important since the duties and job responsibilities have changed greatly in recent years. Since the passing of Bill 82 in 1980 special education in Ontario has evolved from a system of exclusion to now advocating for the supports necessary to have students with exceptionalities learning alongside their peers without disabilities in the general education class (Bennet et al., 2013; Brantlinger, 2006). The EA profession has also evolved and this profession is now placed at the center of special education, a far cry from EAs' clerical beginnings (Groom, 2006).

Lip sky (1980) points out that frontline or what he calls "street level" workers are the ones who have the real impact on policy changes. EAs and other members of the

special education team may have important impacts on future policy in special education. It is recommended that the OME create a standardized definition of the EA's role and duties in special education. This definition will have to build in flexibility since EAs' responsibilities are often complex, diverse, and dependent on the student(s) they are assigned to. Nevertheless, documentation that clearly asserts teacher and EA responsibilities are needed to help the special education team to deliver special education services more efficiently. Current documents in special education make little reference to EAs and their role in the special education team. For example, the *Education for All* (OME, 2005) document simply states, "[Educational] assistants, some of whom are certified to work with students with special needs, can help the regular classroom teacher provide individualized instruction for some students" (p. 114). This definition is vague and does take into account the variety of duties an EA is responsible for. The *IEP Resource Guide* (OME, 2004) goes into a little more detail by explaining:

The [educational] assistant: helps the student with learning activities under the direction and supervision of the teacher; assists with providing appropriate accommodations as described in the IEP; monitors and records the student's achievements and progress relative to the expectations described in the IEP, under the direction and supervision of the teacher; maintains ongoing communication with the student's teachers. (p. 18)

These guidelines are helpful in asserting EAs as members of the special education team. It is recommended, however, that further documentation be developed that expands upon the EA role to discuss the teacher-EA working dynamic more clearly. Simply stating that the teacher is to direct EAs leaves far too much ambiguity for practice, especially when

teachers are not being prepared to direct EAs. In the last ten years, EAs have become further entrenched in special education and thus up-to-date documentation would be beneficial for all stakeholders in special education.

Establishing EAs as respected professionals within the special education team is vital. As such, another recommendation would be to establish a professional association for EAs. A provincial governing body might help with standardizing EAs' professional practice and in enhancing their expertise in schools. This idea was discussed briefly at the 2014 CEC provincial conference in Niagara Falls (Fitzgibbon, Hansen, Barlow, & Newman, 2014). The presenters discussed the need for an organization similar to OCT (Ontario College of Teachers) or CECE (College of Early Childhood Educators). An association such as this would help to organize EAs and would bring more awareness to the importance of EAs in special education. This may result in more public policies being developed and research being conducted about EAs. A provincial association for EAs could govern and regulate practices for the profession across the province. It is recommended that EAs be required to be registered members in order to be employed as an EA in a publicly funded school board in Ontario. It would be essential for this organization to develop partnerships with other professional bodies to help foster collaboration. An organization such as this would require the support of various stakeholders (e.g., parents, teachers, principals, etc.) in special education to ensure the stakeholders' goals do not conflict with that of the EA professional association. For example, clear protocol for EAs would need to be developed that would allow this organization to work closely and support workplace unions.

In order for the special education team to function more efficiently, proper training should be mandated as well. As such, another policy recommendation would be that all new EA hires in Ontario be required to have graduated from an ES program. The OME has suggested hiring policies for EAs, which states, "that all jurisdictions develop a hiring policy that reflects the need for Educational Assistants to have relevant postsecondary, pre-service education from an accredited college or university" (OME, 2011, 97.2.1). Although similar programs exist that have some overlap to the ES program (e.g., Developmental Services Worker program), no other single program offers students the full-range of pre-service preparation to take on the complexities of an EA's duties and responsibilities in the special education team. As such, hiring ES graduates exclusively may serve to enhance the quality of special education delivery. As a part of the ES program's provincial standard, ES graduates are required to demonstrate their abilities in each of the nine VLOs (MTCU, 2012a). These VLOs prepare students with the relevant skills to be an effective EA in the special education team. The ES program VLOs are updated periodically based on changes in the industry standards. As such, graduates of the ES program are appropriately prepared to take on the role of EA in current special education settings.

Hiring ES graduates exclusively for EA positions offers more support for the establishment of a governing body for EAs. Much like teachers (i.e., OCT), all EAs should be required to be a member in good standing with an EA provincial association. It is recommended that in order to become a member, one must have graduated from an ES diploma program. Similar programs from other provinces or countries could be subjected to a case-by-case evaluation, much like the CECE's "Individual Assessment of

Educational Credentials" procedure. This allows the CECE to consider membership of applicants who have equivalent training from across Canada and internationally (CECE, 2015). An EA governing body could also establish EA specific AQ courses (e.g., ASD specialist, behaviour specialist, etc.) to enhance the in-service training opportunities and expertise for EAs.

For teachers, the Special Education Part One AQ course should be a minimal requirement once employed with a publically funded school board in Ontario. All teachers will likely come in contact with students who have special education needs at some point during their career. Having at least a rudimentary understanding of special education will help to advance educational inclusion efforts. That is, a basic knowledge for a range of exceptionalities and an aptitude for constructing and implementing special education programming based on best practices. A policy change requiring this AQ would better prepare teachers with the knowledge and skills to promote educational inclusion in their classrooms. Perhaps school boards could require this AQ course be taken within the first five years of employment and it could be part of every new teacher's professional development plan. As mentioned earlier, the Bachelor of Education may also be helping to prepare teachers for inclusive education in Ontario because the new two-year program will have more of a focus on special education (OCT, 2014).

Recommendations for Practice

EAs often work closely with students who have exceptionalities. Applying inclusion theory to practice needs to be a team effort and EAs play an important role in the special education team. The current study has helped to point out that there are stark differences between inclusion in theory and in practice. All of the participants in this

study indicated that they fully support inclusion theoretically, but found it challenging to apply educational inclusion in practice. This challenge will be better met by adopting a team approach between EAs and classroom teachers. According to three of the participants' observations from their field placement, EAs and teachers had difficulty collaborating. School boards should aim to develop what Kelly called "A community of learners". This would enhance the overall quality of inclusive education and help educators to more effectively utilize evidence-based strategies.

The participants in this study also indicated that they had observed successful and unsuccessful examples of inclusion during their field placement experiences. For this reason it is also recommended that educators constantly evaluate the effectiveness of their approaches to inclusive education. For example, data collection can help educators to observe trends in student's behaviours and guide their educational program or techniques (Heflin & Alaimo, 2007). According to participants' responses in this study, it is especially important to consider how well the student is being included socially with his or her peers. To assist with this practice, EAs or teachers could start social groups that are based around common interests among students with and without disabilities. Research has indicated that this can be an effective means of teaching social skills and helping to foster relationships between students with and without exceptionalities (Sartini, Knight, & Collins, 2013). In addition, Koegel and colleagues (2012) found that adolescents with ASD were more likely to engage socially with their peers in a club centered on the student with ASD's perseverative interests. EAs, teachers, or even students could set up such a club to enhance social opportunities and foster educational inclusion.

Educators working in special education should have a theoretical understanding of

inclusion. All of the participants pointed out that inclusion is ideal in theory. Even by idealizing the concept of inclusion though, it becomes something to strive for in practice rather than a location of service delivery or a predetermined set of conditions. The practical challenges of inclusion should be taught alongside the theory of inclusion in pre-service programs. This strategy will help special educators in training develop a greater understanding of inclusion and be better able to troubleshoot the barriers to inclusion as they are encountered on the job.

EAs can enhance inclusive education by providing additional support to students with exceptionalities. In order to be taken seriously as professionals, EAs need opportunities to act as experts in the special education team, where they can share their specialized knowledge and skills. For example, EAs should be included in all the meetings regarding the student(s) they are assigned to (e.g., IPRC meetings). After their parents, EAs often know the students who have exceptionalities the best due to their closeness on a day-to-day basis. In my experiences, EAs and teachers are not always included in these meetings.

Katz and colleagues found that the presence of an EA in the general education classroom could socially exclude students with exceptionalities. Two of the ES students in the current study also expressed concerns about this. April recommended an alternative to the traditional deployment of EAs for special education. She suggested we have an EA in every class to support all students. All students could benefit from extra support and having one in every class for all students would help to normalize the practice. Although the cost would be immense, this would help to address the growing number of students receiving special education services (OME, 2015).

The special education team can help to advance educational inclusion efforts if all members are working together and are utilized properly. The participants in this study observed that EAs and teachers encountered challenges when working together in inclusive classes. Educators need to receive more guidance on how to collaborate effectively. Teachers and EAs can look to the literature on co-teaching for models on how to effectively share a classroom with one another. Cook and Friend (1995) define co-teaching as: "two or more professionals delivering substantive instruction to a diverse or blended group of students in a single physical space." Based on this definition, the relationship between an EA and teacher in an inclusive classroom could be considered a co-teaching relationship. The EA role has become more instructional in recent years, most often in the form of direct instruction with a student or students with special education needs. As a result, teachers and EAs often share teaching responsibilities in an inclusive classroom. The co-teaching model that applies to the teacher-EA relationship is known as the supplementary teaching model or the one teach/one assist model of coteaching. This model traditionally utilizes a special education teacher as the educator providing support to the class, while the classroom teacher instructs. With EAs, the classroom teacher takes the lead because they are tasked with directing EAs and have more preparation for general education. While the classroom teacher instructs, the EA provides additional support to all students in the class.

The recommendation to better prepare EAs and teachers to work alongside one another will require a clarification of the line that divides the duties of EAs and those of teachers. ES programs and pre-service teacher education programs should collaborate by creating a joint class or a series of workshops where students from both programs can

have opportunities to problem solve case studies based on real classroom experiences. ES students and pre-service teachers could work together to problem solve a scenario that presents a clear power dynamic issue between the teacher and the EA. For example, the pre-service students could role-play a scenario where a teacher is upset because he/she feels the EA has overstepped his/her boundaries by disciplining a student for talking out during a silent reading period. The pre-service students could then reflect on the scenario and develop an action plan to prevent a situation like this from occurring in practice. Students could also discuss the implications of such an interaction. These types of collaborative activities may help to better prepare both sets of educators with the diplomatic skills necessary to successfully unify the special education team. In addition, this process may help teachers and EAs develop professional contacts early in their careers.

Another recommendation at the pre-service level would be that pre-service teachers should be required to have a field placement experience in at least one special education environment (e.g., self-contained class). Preparation for special education needs to include practical components where learners have an opportunity to apply theory to practice in a variety of situations. Teachers could benefit greatly from early hands-on experience in special education during their pre-service years.

Once hired, educators should continue to expand upon their credentials through in-service training. This is particularly important because the milieu of special education is continuing to evolve. In order to support inclusive education initiatives, teachers and EAs should engage in team building activities in order to promote collaboration. As Grace suggested, professional development (PD) days should focus more on special

education and strategies that promote inclusion. From my experiences, EAs are not always included in professional development days with teachers. Actively including EAs' input for PD days centered on special education may be an ample opportunity to assert EAs as professionals in the special education team. This may also give EAs rich opportunities to collaborate with teachers.

Recommendations for Research

In recent years there has been a great deal of research published on inclusive education (see Chapter Two). As discussed earlier, Avramidis and colleagues (2002) pointed out that the concept of educational inclusion is often inconsistently defined and implemented. There is a lack of standardization of what constitutes inclusion, which results in disconnects between theory and practice among practitioners and researchers alike. Research should aim to bridge the gap between theoretical understandings and practical applications of inclusion. In order to address this need, it is recommended that future research studies examine special educators' applications of inclusion in order to identify and promote best practices. These studies should seek to gain a greater understanding of the strategies that have proven to be successful in including students with disabilities in the general education classroom and in the school at large. In addition, these studies need to be disseminated to teachers, EAs, and other special education team members in order to bridge the gap between theory and practice.

The participants in the current research study emphasized the social component of educational inclusion. As such, future research should focus more on the students' attitudes toward inclusion and the actual friendships that are developed in an inclusive classroom. In particular, researchers should examine the behavioural implications of

students' attitudes toward disability and inclusion. Although the current research study attempts to examine attitudes, actual behaviours are not measured (i.e., implementation of inclusive practices) and K-12 students' perspectives are not accounted for. Future studies should consider utilizing triangulation, where behavioural observations and field notes could be included in the research inquiry. Behavioural manifestations of attitude toward inclusion can have a tremendous impact on social experiences for students with special needs.

There is a great need to develop and implement more objective research designs that seek to measure students' observable behaviours inside and outside of the class. Such studies would seek to document the social treatment of students with disabilities. This is necessary because even if interventions can help to enhance students' attitudes toward disability and inclusion, attitudes may not necessarily translate to actual friendships being forged between students with and without disabilities. In fact, Litvack, Ritchie, and Shore (2011) reported that students' attitudes toward disability were overall positive, but students' friendships and interactions with their classmates who had disabilities were still scarce. The recommendation here is to study students' attitudes alongside their behaviours in order to help foster social relationships for students with exceptionalities. One cannot achieve complete objectivity even when measuring students' overt behaviours. Social desirability can occur when observing students' behaviours. Participants often change their behaviour if they know they are being observed—a research phenomenon known as the *Hawthorne effect* (Merrett, 2006). In order to address this, researchers could utilize implicit association tests of attitudes toward persons with disabilities (Thomas, Vaughn, Doyle, & Bubb, 2014) and/or covert observation

strategies.

Future research in special education should include the voice of EAs more often. The numbers of studies examining the EA profession seems to be on the rise. In fact, Giangreco and colleagues (2010) found that "the rate of research on [EAs] has more than doubled since [2001], and the proportion of studies published in scholarly journals has increased. This suggests that paraprofessional issues are a growing area of interest and importance in the field" (p. 44). There are still many fewer studies that investigate EAs compared to teachers in special education. When one considers the importance of EAs in special education, it seems essential to continue conducting research to addresses this gap in the literature. The current study looked at pre-service EAs, but in-service EAs also have a unique perspective to share as the frontline workers in special education. Many EAs work directly with students who have exceptionalities and thus have an intricate knowledge of their students.

Currently there is a paucity of research on EAs in Canadian settings. There is a general need for more research on EAs' perceptions of their role, their attitudes toward inclusion, and their working relationships with teachers. Working EAs' attitudes toward inclusion may be different from pre-service EAs because work experiences may have influenced their attitudes overtime. Many EAs have been able to see first-hand the effects of different service delivery models and the impact they have had on students' academic and social development. It would be interesting to interview career EAs who have been working in special education for a long time. These veteran EAs could share how their role has changed in recent history. In addition, it would be worthwhile to compare the experiences of veteran and novice EAs to see if there are any major differences in their

attitudes toward educational inclusion.

The current research study is the first, to the researcher's knowledge, to investigate ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion. As such, there is much need for additional research in this area. It is recommended that future studies continue the investigation of pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion and their perspectives on a variety of education phenomenon (e.g., diversity, assistive technology, etc.). The current study has helped to showcase that ES students have a unique and meaningful perspective to share. In addition, it points out the importance of pre-service training and practical experiences in special education. The ES students discussed their impression of inclusive education largely from their practical experiences (e.g., field placement). In future research, it would be interesting to investigate mentor EAs' experiences with ES students on field placement. Such a study could interview pre-service and supervising EA dyads and discuss their perceptions of work experience and pre-service preparation. Including supervising EAs' experiences and perspectives could help to give a fuller picture of ES programs' field placement experiences. The resulting narratives may have important implication for the way in which the ES programs' field placement components are structured. For example, Grace mentioned that her supervising EA suggested the ES field placements should be one big block (i.e., five days a week for three weeks) rather than a few days a week (e.g., two days a week for eight weeks) while concurrently taking classes. Grace's supervising EA felt this would be more effective in simulating the job of an EA, but the structure of the ES program at Moxie College did not allow for this flexibility.

Although a large body of attitudinal research is quantitative, studies measuring

EAs' attitudes toward inclusion are primarily qualitative. The current study investigates ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion qualitatively, however, future studies in this field should consider different research methodologies (e.g., mixed methods or quantitative approaches) to address this research question from a variety of viewpoints. For example, a future research study could adapt a metric designed to measure preservice teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and measure ES students' attitudes quantitatively. No existing metric that specifically measures EAs' or ES students' attitudes exists to the researcher's knowledge. Searches for such a metric were done using ERIC, the Web of Knowledge, and PsycInfo search engines. Bennett and Gallangher (2013) adapted two existing attitudinal metrics to measures EAs', teachers', and job coaches' attitudes toward inclusion. Developing a specific questionnaire for measuring EAs' attitudes toward inclusion would allow a researcher to increase sample sizes (i.e., measure the attitudes of more pre-service or in-service EAs). One drawback of this approach, however, would be that such a metric would not be capable of delving deeply into each participant's stories and individual conceptualizations of inclusion. The current study points out the importance of an individual approach because each of the participants had a slightly different understanding of inclusion. In addition, these understandings were often shaped by their personal experiences.

It is recommended that future studies utilize a variety of research designs to develop a deeper understanding of how the ES programs impact students' attitudes toward inclusion. For example, it would be worthwhile to follow-up with the ES students from this study into the beginning years of their careers. It would be interesting to measure ES students' attitudes toward inclusion longitudinally to see if their attitudes

change over time as they get more hands on experience in the classroom as EAs. A longitudinal study would allow a researcher to observe changes in attitude over time, as well as make conjectures about the possible determinant factors for attitudinal change (e.g., classroom experience, burnout, etc.). For example, an ES student may have supported educational inclusion as a student, but may not support educational inclusion as a working EA. The continuity of participants' attitudes could have important implications on EAs' overall quality of praxis.

An alternative to a longitudinal design would be to conduct comparative studies. A researcher could examine attitudinal differences between students in different ES programs across the province (i.e., different CAATs). An alternative comparative study would be to investigate the differences in attitudinal scores between students in the one year fast-track intensive programs and students in the regular two-year program. A final idea for a comparative study would be to research the differences in attitudes between first and second year students in a two-year ES program. This could have important implications on the overall structure of the ES program and the way in which curriculum in the program is delivered (e.g., coursework, placement experiences, etc.).

Limitations

Although this study makes a novel contribution to the field of special education in Ontario, it is not without its limitations. To address the limitations of this study I will follow the suggestions for trustworthiness in qualitative research outlined by Shenton (2004). Shenton's measure of trustworthiness examines the extent to which the qualitative research achieves credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. These four concepts loosely correlate with questions of internal validity,

external validity, reliability, and objectivity respectively, but better captures the nature of qualitative inquiries.

The first limitation concerns the transferability of the study. The sample consisted of only four final year ES students from one large CAAT in Ontario. The participants by no means represent the attitudes of the population of interest (i.e., final year ES students across Ontario). In fact, the participants are not even representative of the majority of those in the ES programs at Moxie College. The coordinator of the ES programs at Moxie College shared some basic demographic information which indicated that in 2015 Moxie College's ES students were 87% female and mostly between the ages of 21 and 25. All four interviewees were mature students, women, and only one of the ES students was enrolled in the two year ES program. All final year ES students at Moxie College (approximately 65 students) were contacted to participate in this study, but only four responded to be interviewed. As a result there may be a non-response bias (Berg, 2005). That is, those who chose not to respond may differ systematically from those who volunteered to be interviewed. The ES students who decided to participate may have had more interest in the concept of educational inclusion than those who did not participate. For example, Kelly reported that she was taking additional courses through Athabasca University on inclusion. This narrative inquiry study focused deeply on each individual's personal experiences. Any variation in participants' experiences would have resulted in a very different interpretation of the data. As a result the themes and subsequent recommendations may have been very different.

As such, the findings should be interpreted with caution and should not be generalized beyond the experiences of these four individuals. This study follows a

narrative inquiry design and thus did not have intentions of generalization. The intention was to better understand the attitudes of a few ES students who were willing to share their personal stories with me. To this end, the purpose of the study was achieved, however, the results of this study only partially answer the main research question (i.e., What are final year ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion?). To enhance the transferability of this research, further research studies should be conducted that employ more diverse samples of ES students in order to better understand their attitudes toward educational inclusion.

Social desirability may be another limitation of this research inquiry. That is, participants may have responded to the interview questions based on perceived social or political correctness rather than based on their true attitudes toward educational inclusion. If participants did not share their authentic attitudes, the credibility of the study would be compromised. To enhance the credibility of the study, I tried to remain as neutral as possible in my responses to participants. During the interview process I tried to conceal my own attitudes toward inclusion from the participants because I did not want to influence their responses. At the same time, I wanted to maintain authentic conversations without creating an environment that seemed interrogative, a point that was stressed by Lawson and colleagues (2006).

To enhance confirmability I emphasized that there are no right or wrong answers and encouraged participants to share their interpretation of their personal experiences.

Despite these efforts, it is possible my presence may have enhanced the likelihood of socially desirable responses. That is, the participants may have tried to align their attitudes toward inclusion with that of mine. At the end of the second and fourth

interview, both Anne and Grace asked me what my attitudes toward inclusion were. This suggests that the participants did not know what my personal attitudes toward inclusion were during the interview process. In addition, the variety of answers found in the interview transcripts suggests honesty from the participants. That is, participants shared stories that emphasized both attitudes that supported inclusion and attitudes that opposed inclusion. One of the inherent challenges in attitudinal research is that there is no way to know whether the participants answered in socially desirable or authentic ways.

There were also some methodological limitations that should be addressed in subsequent research studies. For example, I only had four ES students respond to the call for participants. If there had been a great deal of interest among ES students at Moxie College, I may have selected four or five participants to be interviewed from a larger pool of interested students. This would have helped to enhance the representation of Moxie College's ES programs by diversifying the sample. I developed the interview's guiding questions because there were no existing research studies/interview questions that investigate ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion. Some of the questions were inspired from similar studies in the field, but most of the questions were created for the purpose of this study (see Glazzard 2011; Hemmings & Woodcock, 2011; McCray & McHatton, 2011). Dependability was weak because this is the first study to measure ES students' attitudes toward inclusion, but future studies could utilize my guiding questions to enhance dependability. Prompts in the interview often came from my advanced knowledge of the ES programs and my experience working in special education. Therefore, it may be important to replicate this study with an interviewer who has experience with EAs and ES programs. It may be worthwhile for future studies to

consider bringing ES students together for a focus group or consider utilizing triangulation. For example it may be worthwhile to examine field placement reflections/field notes, conduct interviews, and measuring participants' attitudes using a quantitative questionnaire. Exploring the phenomenon in such a way would provide a researcher with a several vantage points to observe and measure ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

EAs play an important role within the special education team. They are often responsible, in conjunction with the classroom teacher, for implementing special education programming. In an inclusive environment the support of EAs could have a great impact on the overall success of students with special education needs. As such, it is important that EAs are prepared to take on their role as frontline workers in special education. To meet this need Ontario CAATs have developed ES programs. ES programs are relatively new in Ontario CAATs and offer much needed pre-service preparation to aspiring EAs. This intensive education is necessitated by the evolution of EAs' role in special education, the increase in the number of students in Ontario receiving special education services (OME, 2015), and the push for more inclusive policies and practices in Ontario's K-12 schools (OME, 2013b). The aim of the current study was to examine final year ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion. Literature examining teachers' and EAs' attitudes toward educational inclusion have implied that educators' attitudes toward inclusion can have an impact on the extent to which inclusive practices are implemented in practice (Avramidis, et al., 2000; Avramidis & Norwich, 2002; Lawson et al., 2006).

I do not know of any other studies investigating ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion. In fact, no studies have been found with ES students in Ontario in any capacity. ES students represent an important unheard voice in Ontario's special education literature. This study is the first of its kind and therefore helps to address a gap in the literature. Narrative inquiry was employed in order to explore this topic in depth and identify recommendations for future policy, practice, and research. The participants

consisted of four students enrolled in their final semester of an ES program at Moxie College. I was able to collect rich and meaningful data from these four participants because as mature students they all had a great deal of lived experiences to share.

The main research question for the current study was: What are final year ES students' attitudes toward educational inclusion? This study begins to address this question through the use of semi-structured interviews. From these interviews, I discovered that for the most part, the ES students in this study supported educational inclusion, but their attitudes were malleable depending on the circumstances (e.g., severity of disability, social readiness of the student, etc.). Much like teachers' attitudes toward inclusion (Avramidis & Norwich, 2002; de Boer et al., 2011), ES students were more open to partial inclusion as compared to full inclusion. In addition, the participants generally supported the idea of educational inclusion, but expressed challenges with inclusion in practice. This phenomenon has come to be known as the "yes, but . . ." phenomenon and has been observed in previous studies that have investigated EAs' attitudes toward inclusion (Mackenzie, 2011; Sikes et al., 2007).

Through thematic analysis, three themes emerged from the ES students' interviews. Participants discussed (1) the importance of applying theory to practice in special education, (2) the importance of EAs in implementing educational inclusion, and (3) the importance of adequate training for all members of the special education team. It is not surprising that the participants discussed these three concepts in depth. The first theme may have arisen because EAs work on the frontline of special education where the application of theory is particularly important. The second theme may have emerged because ES students get the opportunity to work alongside EAs during their field

placement experiences and see first-hand the importance of their role in special education. The ES students' field placement experiences were strongly represented in their interview responses. For all of the participants, it seemed that their field placement experiences played an important role in their attitude development. The final theme may have developed because ES students receive specialized preparation for special education. Many working EAs and teachers have not received this type of intensive preparation for special education through their pre-service education. At the same time, the ES students interviewed recognized the importance and the need to train all educators in the school because evidence-based practices in special education are continuing to evolve. The themes discovered through this study helped to produce important recommendations for future policy, practice, and research.

The current study allowed participants the opportunity to reflect upon their experiences (both in and out of the ES program), consider their own attitudes toward education inclusion, and discuss their future roles as EAs. In addition, the current study makes a contribution to the field of special education in Ontario by giving a voice to ES students in the literature. It helps to point out the importance of EAs in special education and the relevance of ES programs in Ontario CAATs. As special education continues to evolve, ES programs are going to play an important role in preparing pre-service EAs for inclusive education. EAs who are trained in ES programs will be better prepared to implement high quality special education services. Trends in provincial policies (e.g., PPM 119) suggest that the province of Ontario will continue to promote inclusive education into the foreseeable future (OME, 2013b). In order to work toward achieving educational inclusion, educators need the appropriate education (e.g., found in the ES

program) to prepare them with the knowledge and skills to take on their role in special education. The participants in the current study identified that there is still a great deal of room for improvement as we strive for more inclusive education in Ontario. The future of special education will be presented with challenges and barriers in upcoming years.

Together with the special education team, ES graduates (as working EAs) will play an important role in the pursuit of truly inclusive education for all students.

REFERENCES

- Abbott, L., McConkey, R., & Dobbins, M. (2011). Key players in inclusion: Are we meeting the professional needs of learning support assistants for pupils with complex needs?

 European Journal of Special Needs Education, 26, 215-231.

 doi:10.1080/08856257.2011.563608
- Ajuwon, P. M., Lechtenberger, D., Griffin-Shirley, N., Sokolosky, S., Zhou, L., & Mullins, F. E. (2012). General education pre-service teachers perceptions of including students with disabilities in their classrooms. *International Journal of Special Education*, *27*(3), 100-107. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com
- Ajzen, I. (2001). Nature and operation of attitudes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *52*, 27-58. 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.27
- Allport, G. W. & Shanck, R. L. (1936). Are attitudes biological or cultural in origin? *Character and Personality*, 4, 195-205. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1936.tb02122.x
- Angelides, P., Constantinou, C., & Leigh, J. (2009). The role of paraprofessionals in developing inclusive education in Cyprus. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *24*, 75-89. doi: 10.1080/08856250802596741
- Artiles, A. J., Harris-Murri, N., & Rostenberg, D. (2006). Inclusion as social justice: Critical notes on discourses, assumptions, and the road ahead. *Theory into Practice*, *45*, 260-268. doi: 10.1207/s15430421tip4503_8
- Arvast, A. (2008). The new CAAT: (Dis)illusions of freedom and the new college charter in Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, *38*(1), 105-120. Retrieved from http://ojs.library.ubc.ca/index.php/cjhe/article/view/518

- Avramidis, E. (2013). Self-concept, social position and social participation of pupils with SEN in mainstream primary schools. *Research Papers in Education, 28*, 421-442. doi: 10.1080/02671522.2012.673006
- Avramidis, E., Bayliss, P., & Burden, R. (2000). Student teachers' attitudes towards the inclusion of children with special educational needs in the ordinary school. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 16, 277-293. doi: 10.1016/S0742-051X(99)00062-1
- Avramidis, E., Bayliss, P., & Burden, R. (2002). Inclusion in action: An in-depth case study of an effective inclusive secondary school in the south-west of England. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *6*(2), 143-163. doi:10.1080/13603110010017169
- Avramidis, E., & Norwich, B. (2002). Teachers' attitudes towards integration / inclusion: A review of the literature. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 17(2), 129-147. doi:10.1080/08856250210129056
- Bennett, S. (2009). Including students with exceptionalities. What works? Research into practice.

 The Literacy and Numeracy Secretariat. Retrieved from
 http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/literacynumeracy/inspire/research/Bennett.pdf
- Bennett, S., Dworet, D., & Weber, K. (2013). *Special education in Ontario schools*. (7th ed., p. 2-12). St. Davids, Ontario: Highland Press.
- Bennett, S. M., & Gallagher, T. L. (2013). High school students with intellectual disabilities in the school and workplace: Multiple perspectives on inclusion. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *36*(1), 96-124. Retrieved from http://www.cje-rce.ca/index.php/cje-rce/article/view/1164/1463
- Berg, N. (2005). Non-Response Bias. In Kempf-Leonard, K. Encyclopedia of social

- *measurement* (p. 865-873). London, England: Academic Press. Retrieved from http://ssrn.com/abstract=1691967
- Bobbitt, F. (2004). Scientific method in curriculum-making. As cited in D.J. Flinders & S.J. Thornton (Eds.), The curriculum studies reader (pp. 9-16). New York: Routledge.
- Brantlinger, E. (2006). Who benefits from special education: Remediating fixing other people's children. (pp.1). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3, 77-101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Breckler, S. J. (1984). Empirical validation of affect, behavior, and cognition as distinct components of attitude. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 47, 1191-1205. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.47.6.1191
- Breton, W. (2010). Special education paraprofessionals: Perceptions of preservice preparation, supervision, and ongoing developmental training. *International Journal of Special Education*, 25, 34-45. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com
- Burgess, H., & Mayes, A. S. (2009). An exploration of higher level teaching assistants' perceptions of their training and development in the context of school workforce reform. Support for Learning, 24, 19-25. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9604.2009.01393.x
- Burns, M., & Ysseldyke, J. (2009). Reported prevalence of evidence-based instructional practices in special education. *The Journal of Special Education*, *43*(1), 3-11. doi:10.1177/0022466908315563
- Cairns, B., & McClatchey, K. (2013). Comparing children's attitudes towards disability. *British Journal of Special Education*, 40, 124-129. doi:10.1111/1467-8578.12033

- Canadian Research Centre on Inclusive Education (CRCIE). (2015a). In Understanding inclusive education. Retrieved January 15, 2015 from http://www.inclusiveeducationresearch.ca/about/inclusion.html#top
- Canadian Research Centre on Inclusive Education (CRCIE). (2015b). In Who are we? Retrieved January 15, 2015 from http://www.inclusiveeducationresearch.ca/about/index.html
- Carlson, J. A. (2010). Avoiding traps in member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, *15*, 1102-1113. Retrieved from: http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR15-5/carlson.pdf
- College of Early Childhood Educators (CECE). (2015). In Individual assessment of educational credentials. Retrieved May 10th, 2015 from https://www.college-ece.ca/en/BecomeAMember/Pages/Individual-Assessment.aspx
- Colleges Ontario (2013). In Ontario's colleges: Creating a highly skilled workforce for the new economy. Retrieved May 24th, 2015 from

 http://www.collegesontario.org/outcomes/accountability/CO_WORKFORCE_Report_20

 13_WEB_Singles.pdf
- Colleges Ontario. (2014). In Ontario's colleges: Helping more people achieve career success.

 Retrieved January 3, 2015 from www.collegesontario.org/news/fact-sheets/General-2014.pdf
- Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1990). Stories of experience and narrative inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, 19(5), 2-14. doi: 10.3102/0013189X019005002
- Cook, L., & Friend, M. (1995). Co-teaching: Guidelines for creating effective practices. (cover story). *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 28(3), 1-16. Retrieved from <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.uwindsor.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN="http://search.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.com.expx.edu.ebscohost.c

9602192589&site=ehost-live

- Corbin, J., & Strauss (2008). *Basics of Qualitative Research*. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications Inc.
- Corey, S. M. (1937). Professed attitudes and actual behavior. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 28, 271-280. doi:10.1037/h0056871
- Costello, S., & Boyle, C. (2013). Pre-service secondary teachers' attitudes towards inclusive education. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *38*(4), 129-143. doi: 10.14221/ajte.2013v38n4.8
- Creswell, J. W., (2013). *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches*. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications Inc.
- de Boer, A., Pijl, S. J., & Minnaert, A. (2010). Attitudes of parents towards inclusive education: A review of the literature. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 25, 165–181. doi: 10.1080/08856251003658694
- de Boer, A., Pijl, S. J., & Minnaert, A. (2011). Regular primary schoolteachers' attitudes towards inclusive education: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 15, 331-353. doi: 10.1080/13603110903030089
- de Boer, A., Pijl, S. J., Post, W., & Minnaert, A. (2013). Peer acceptance and friendships of students with disabilities in general education: The role of child, peer, and classroom variables. *Social Development*, 22, 831-844. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2012.00670.x
- de Graaf, G., van Hove, G., & Haveman, M. (2013). More academics in regular schools? The effect of regular versus special school placement on academic skills in Dutch primary school students with Down Syndrome. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 57,

- 21-38. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2011.01512.x
- DeJessa A. L. (2014). Does the highly qualified status of a special education teacher affect the use of different models of co-teaching? (Unpublished masters thesis). Caldwell College, USA. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1536419864
- Dennison, J.D. (1995). Challenge and opportunity: Canada's community colleges at the crossroads. Vancouver, BC: UBC Press.
- Dillenburger, K., & Keenan, M. (2009). None of the as in ABA stand for autism: Dispelling the myths. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, *34*(2), 193-195. doi: 10.1080/13668250902845244
- Downing, L. (2008). *The Cambridge introduction to Michel Foucault: From theory to practice*.

 Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Egilson, S. T., & Traustadottir, R. (2009). Assistance to pupils with physical disabilities in regular schools: Promoting inclusion or creating dependency? *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 24, 21-36. doi: 10.1080/08856250802596766
- Elkins, J., van Kraayenoord, C. E., & Jobling, A. (2003). Parents' attitudes to inclusion of their children with special needs. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *3*, 122-129. doi: 10.1111/1471-3802.00005
- Festinger, L., & Carlsmith, J. M. (1959). Cognitive consequences of forced compliance. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, *58*, 203-210. doi: 10.1037/h0041593
- Fishbein, M., & Raven, B. H. (1962). The AB scales: An operational definition of belief and attitude. *Human Relations*, *15*, 35-44. doi:10.1177/001872676201500104
- Fisher, R. (2006). The scholarship of college teaching: Research opportunities in the new

- millennium. *Journal of Teaching and Learning, 4*(1), 57-71. Retrieved from http://ojs.uwindsor.ca/ojs/leddy/index.php/JTL/article/view/87
- Fisher, M., & Pleasants, S. L. (2012). Roles, responsibilities, and concerns of paraeducators: Findings from a statewide survey. *Remedial and Special Education*, *33*, 287-297. doi:10.1177/0741932510397762
- Fitzgibbon, A., Hansen, K., Barlow, G., & Newman, T. (2014). Is it time for an educational assistant provincial association? Presented at the Ontario Council for Exceptional Children Conference.
- Forlin, C., Earle, C., Loreman, T., & Sharma, U. (2011). The sentiments, attitudes, and concerns about inclusive education revised (SACIE-R) scale for measuring pre-service teachers' perceptions about inclusion. *Exceptionality Education International*, 21(3), 50-65.

 Retrieved from http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/eei/vol21/iss3/5
- French, J. R. P., & Raven, B. (1959). The bases of social power. In Cartwright, D. *Studies of social power* (p. 150-167). Oxford, England: Oxford University Press: University of Michigan.
- Gandhi, A. G. (2007). Context matters: Exploring relations between inclusion and reading achievement of students without disabilities. *International Journal of Disability,*Development and Education, 54, 91-112. doi: 10.1080/10349120601149797
- Giangreco, M. F. (2010). Utilization of teacher assistants in inclusive schools: Is it the kind of help that helping is all about? *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *25*, 341-345. doi:10.1080/08856257.2010.513537
- Giangreco, M. F., Broer, S. M., & Suter, J. C. (2011). Guidelines for selecting alternatives to

- overreliance on paraprofessionals: Field-testing in inclusion-oriented schools. *Remedial and Special Education*, *32*, 22-38. doi:10.1177/0741932509355951
- Giangreco, M. F., Doyle, M. B., & Suter, J. C. (2012). Constructively responding to requests for paraprofessionals: We keep asking the wrong questions. *Remedial and Special Education*, *33*, 362-373. doi: 10.1177/0741932511413472
- Giangreco, M. F., Suter, J. C., & Doyle, M. B. (2010). Paraprofessionals in inclusive schools: A review of recent research. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 20, 40-57. doi: 10.1080/10474410903535356
- Giroux, H. A. (1978). Developing Educational Programs: Overcoming the Hidden Curriculum. *The Clearing House*, *52*, 148-151. doi: 10.1080/00098655.1978.10113565
- Glazzard, J. (2011). Perceptions of the barriers to effective inclusion in one primary school:

 Voices of teachers and teaching assistants. *Support for Learning*, *26*, 56-63. doi:

 10.1111/j.1467-9604.2011.01478.x
- Groom, B. (2006). Building relationships for learning: The developing role of the teaching assistant. *Support for Learning*, *21*, 199-203. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9604.2006.00432.x
- Groom, B., & Rose, R. (2005). Supporting the inclusion of pupils with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties in the primary school: The role of teaching assistants. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *5*, 20-30. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-3802.2005.00035.x
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field methods*, *18*, 59-82. doi: 10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Hamaidi, D., Homidi, M., & Reyes, L. V. (2012). International views of inclusive education: A

- comparative study of early childhood educator's perceptions in Jordan, United Arab Emirates, and the United States of America. *International Journal of Special Education*, 27(2), 94-101. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com
- Hansen, K.D., & Jones, L. (2013). The many hats of the educational assistant: Developing an effective skill set. Presented at the Ontario Council for Exceptional Children Conference.
- Harpur, P. (2012). From disability to ability: Changing the phrasing of the debate. *Disability & Society*, 27, 325-337. doi:10.1080/09687599.2012.654985
- Hartfield, L. R. (2009). Mathematics achievement of regular education students by placement in inclusion and non-inclusion classrooms and their principals' perceptions of inclusion.(Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Southern Mississippi, USA.
- Heflin, L. J., & Alaimo, D. F. (2008). Students with autism spectrum disorders: Effective instructional practices. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Education.
- Hemmings, B., & Woodcock, S. (2011). Preservice teachers' views of inclusive education: A content analysis. *Australasian Journal of Special Education*, *35*, 103-116. doi: 10.1375/ajse.35.2.103
- Heward, W. (2013). *Exceptional children: An introduction to special education*. (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Education.
- Katz, J., Porath, M., Bendu, C., & Epp, B. (2012). Diverse voices: Middle years students' insights into life in inclusive classrooms. *Exceptionality Education International*, 22(1),
 2-16. Retrieved from http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/eei/vol22/iss1/2
- Kalambouka, A., Farrell, P., Dyson, A., & Kaplan, I. (2007). The impact of placing pupils with special educational needs in mainstream schools on the achievement of their peers.

- Educational Research, 49, 365-382. doi: 10.1080/00131880701717222
- Kauffman, J. M., Bantz, J., & McCullough, J. (2002). Separate and better: A special public school class for students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Exceptionality*, 10, 149-170. doi: 10.1207/S15327035EX1003_1
- Koegel, R. L., Fredeen, R., Kim, S., Danial, J., Rubinstein, D., & Koegel, L. (2012). Using perseverative interests to improve interactions between adolescents with autism and their typical peers in school settings. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 14(3), 133-141. doi: 10.1177/1098300712437043
- LaPiere, R. T. (1934). Attitudes vs. actions. Social Forces, 13, 230-237. doi:10.2307/2570339
- Lawson, H., Parker, M., & Sikes, P. (2006). Seeking stories: Reflections on a narrative approach to researching understandings of inclusion. *European Journal of Special Needs*Education, 21, 55-68. doi:10.1080/08856250500491823
- Lipsky, M. (1980). Street level bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the individual public services. New York City, New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Liston, A. G., Nevin, A., & Malian, I. (2009). What do paraeducators in inclusive classrooms say about their work? Analysis of national survey data and follow-up interviews in California. *TEACHING Exceptional Children Plus*, *5*(5), 1-17. Retrieved from http://journals.cec.sped.org/tecplus/vol5/iss5/art1
- Litvack, M. S., Ritchie, K. C., & Shore, B. M. (2011). High- and average-achieving students' perceptions of disabilities and of students with disabilities in inclusive classrooms. *Exceptional Children*, 77, 474-487. doi:10.1177/001440291107700406
- Litwin, J. M. (2012). Recognizing a centre of excellence in Ontario's colleges. *College Quarterly*, 15(4). Retrieved from

http://www.collegequarterly.ca/2012-vol15-num04-fall/litwin.html

- Lord, J. & Hutchinson P. *Pathways to inclusion: Building a new story with people and communities.* (Second edition). Concord, Ontario: Captus Press Inc.
- Loreman, T., Sharma, U., & Forlin, C. (2013). Do pre-service teachers feel ready to teach in inclusive classrooms? A four country study of teaching self-efficacy. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(1), 19. doi: 10.14221/ajte.2013v38n1.10
- Lowry, C., & Froese, W. (2001). Transitions: becoming a college teacher. Proceedings of the 2001 pan-Canadian education research agenda symposium (pp. 1-22). Quebec City: http://www.cesc.ca/pceradocs/2001/papers/01Froese Lowry e.pdf
- Mackenzie, S. (2011). "Yes, but . . . ": Rhetoric, reality and resistance in teaching assistants' experiences of inclusive education. *Support for Learning, 26*, 64-71.doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9604.2011.01479.x
- Marshall, C., & Ward, M. (2004). "Yes, but . . . ": Education leaders discuss social justice. *Journal of School Leadership*, 14, 530-563.
- Mason, P. L. (2013). Comparing types of student placement and the effect on achievement for students with disabilities. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Liberty University, USA.
- McCormack, C. (2000). From interview transcript to interpretive story: Part 1—Viewing the transcript through multiple lenses. *Field Methods, 12*, 282-297. doi: 10.1177/1525822X0001200402
- McCormack, C. (2004). Storying stories: A narrative approach to in-depth interview conversations. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 7, 219-236. doi:10.1080/13645570210166382
- McCray, E. D., & McHatton, P. A. (2011). "Less afraid to have "them" in my classroom":

- Understanding pre-service general educators' perceptions about inclusion. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *38*(4), 135-155. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23479634
- Merrett, F. (2006). Reflections on the hawthorne effect. *Educational Psychology*, 26, 143-146. doi: 10.1080/01443410500341080
- Minow, M. (1990). *Making all the difference: Inclusion, exclusion, and American law*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- Mittler, P. (1995). Special needs education: An international perspective. British Journal of Special Education, 22, 105-108. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8578.1995.tb00915.x
- Moran, A., & Abbott, L. (2002). Developing inclusive schools: The pivotal role of teaching assistants in promoting inclusion in special and mainstream schools in Northern Ireland. *European Journal of Special Needs Education, 17*, 161-173. doi: 10.1080/08856250210129074
- Morgan, J., Hofmeister, A. M., & Ashbaker, B. Y. (1995). *Training programs for paraeducators in the United States: A review of the literature*. Utah State University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 392786).
- Myers, D. G., & Smith, S. M. (2009). *Exploring social psychology*. (2nd Canadian ed.). Toronto, Ontario: McGraw-Hill Ryerson.
- Oliver, M. (1996). *Understanding disability: From theory to practice*. New York City, New York: Macmillan Publishers.
- Ontario College of Teachers (OCT). (2014). In 2014 Registration guide: Requirements for becoming a teacher of genera education in Ontario. Retrieved May 10th, 2015 from http://www.oct.ca/-/media/708144310B6C45E7AA7A1CF502BFE138.ashx

- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2013a). In An introduction to special education in Ontario. Retrieved January 13, 2015 from www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/general/elemsec/speced/ontario.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2013b). In Developing and implementing equity and inclusive education policies in Ontario schools. Retrieved April 27th, 2015 from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/extra/eng/ppm/119.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2005). In Education for all: The report of the expert panel on literacy and numeracy instruction for students with special education needs, kindergarten to grade six. Retrieved June 1st, 2015 from https://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/document/reports/speced/panel/speced.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2007). In Identification, placement, and review committee. Retrieved January 11, 2015 from www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/general/elemsec/speced/identifi.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2013c) In Learning for all: A guide to effective assessment and instruction for all students, kindergarten to grade twelve. Retrieved June 1st, 2015 from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/general/elemsec/speced/LearningforAll2013.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2011). In Minister's advisory council on special education. Retrieved January 5, 2015 from www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/document/reports/report98.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2012). In Policy program memorandum no. 140.

 Retrieved April 27, 2015 from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/extra/eng/ppm/140.html

- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME) (2015). Support every child, reach every student: An overview of special education [PowerPoint slides].
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2004). In The individual education plan (IEP): A resource guide. Retrieved June 1st, 2015 from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/general/elemsec/speced/guide/resource/iepresguid.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education (OME). (2009). In Quick facts: Ontario's equity and inclusive education strategy. Retrieved January 11, 2015 from www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/equityquickfacts.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Training, Colleges, and Universities (MTCU). (2013). In Employment
 Ontario. Retrieved January 20, 2015 from

 www.tcu.gov.on.ca/eng/labourmarket/ojf/pdf/6472_e.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Training, Colleges, and Universities (MTCU). (2012a). In Educational Support program standard. Retrieved January 8, 2015 from www.tcu.gov.on.ca/pepg/audiences/colleges/progstan/humserv/eduSupp.html
- Ontario Ministry of Training, College, and Universities (MTCU). (2012b). In Degree authority in Ontario. Retrieved January 14, 2015 from http://www.tcu.gov.on.ca/pepg/programs/degreeauthority/legislation.html
- Ostrom, T. M. (1969). The relationship between the affective, behavioral, and cognitive components of attitude. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *5*, 12-30. doi:10.1016/0022-1031(69)90003-

- Pijl, S. J., Frostad, P., & Flem, A. (2008). The social position of pupils with special needs in regular schools. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 52, 387-405. doi: 10.1080/00313830802184558
- Pittaway, J. F. (2002) *The educational assistant*. (International Edition). Lynden, Ontario: JP Enterprises.
- Ratcliff, N. J., Jones, C. R., Vaden, R. S., Sheehan, H., & Hunt, G. H. (2011). Paraprofessionals in early childhood classrooms: An examination of duties and expectations. *Early Years:*An International Journal of Research and Development, 31, 163-179. doi: 10.1080/09575146.2011.588850
- Rillotta, F., & Nettelbeck, T. (2007). Effects of an awareness program on attitudes of students without an intellectual disability towards persons with an intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 32, 19-27. doi: 10.1080/13668250701194042
- Rose, R., & Forlin, C. (2010). Impact of training on change in practice for education assistants in a group of international private schools in Hong Kong. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14, 309-323. doi: 10.1080/13603110802504895
- Ruijs, N. M., & Peetsma, T. T. (2009). Effects of inclusion on students with and without special educational needs reviewed. *Educational Research Review*, *4*, 67-79.
- Ruijs, N. M., Van der Veen, I., & Peetsma, T. T. (2010). Inclusive education and students without special educational needs. *Educational Research*, *52*(4), 351-390.doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2009.02.002
- Ryan, T. G. (2009). Inclusive attitudes: A pre-service analysis. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *9*, 180-187. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-3802.2009.01134.x

- Saddler, H. (2014). Researching the influence of teaching assistants on the learning of pupils identified with special educational needs in mainstream primary schools: Exploring social inclusion. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 14, 145-152. doi:10.1111/1471-3802.12019
- Sartini, E. C., Knight, V. F., & Collins, B. C. (2013). Ten guidelines to facilitate social groups for students with complex special needs. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, *45*(3), 54-62. doi:10.1177/004005991304500306
- Shapiro, J. P. (1994). *No pity: People with disabilities forging a new civil rights movement.* New York City, New York: Three Rivers Press.
- Sharma, U., Forlin, C., & Loreman, T. (2008). Impact of training on pre-service teachers' attitudes and concerns about inclusive education and sentiments about persons with disabilities. *Disability & Society*, *23*, 773-785. doi: 10.1080/09687590802469271
- Sikes, P., Lawson, H., & Parker, M. (2007). Voices on: Teachers and teaching assistants talk about inclusion. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 11(3), 355-370. doi: 10.1080/13603110701238819
- Simmons, B., & Bayliss, P. (2007). The role of special schools for children with profound and multiple learning difficulties: Is segregation always best? *British Journal of Special Education*, *34*, 19-24. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8578.2007.00449.x
- Skolnik, M. L. (2010). A look back at the decision on the transfer function at the founding of Ontario's colleges of applied arts and technology. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 40(2), 1-17. Retrieved from http://ojs.library.ubc.ca/index.php/cjhe/article/view/1915/1942

- Specht, J. & Bennett S. (2013). Some thoughts on achieving inclusive schooling. In Educational watch: An update on inclusive education, 4(3), 3-4. Retrieved from www.inclusiveeducationresearch.ca/docs/Education_Watch_Spring_2013.pdf
- Storey, K. (2007). Combating ableism in schools. *Preventing School Failure*, *52*(1), 56-58.doi: 10.3200/PSFL.52.1.56-58
- Swain, K. D., Nordness, P. D., & Leader-Janssen, E. (2012). Changes in preservice teacher attitudes toward inclusion. *Preventing School Failure*, *56*, 75-81. doi: 10.1080/1045988X.2011.565386
- Swearer, S. M., Wang, C., Maag, J. W., Siebecker, A. B., & Frerichs, L. J. (2012).

 Understanding the bullying dynamic among students in special and general education. *Journal of School Psychology*, 50, 503-520. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2012.04.001
- Symes, W., & Humphrey, N. (2011). School factors that facilitate or hinder the ability of teaching assistants to effectively support pupils with autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) in mainstream secondary schools. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs, 11*, 153-161. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-3802.2011.01196.x
- Thomas, A., Vaughn, E., Doyle, A., & Bubb, R. (2014). Implicit association tests of attitudes toward persons with disabilities. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 82, 184-204. doi: 10.1080/00220973.2013.813357
- Trent, J. (2014). 'I'm teaching, but I'm not really a teacher'. Teaching assistants and the construction of professional identities in Hong Kong schools. *Educational Research*, *56*, 28-47. doi:10.1080/00131881.2013.874147

- UNESCO. (1994). In The Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs

 Education. Retrieved September 11, 2014 from

 http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/SALAMA_E.PDF
- Wang, H. L. (2009). Should all students with special educational needs be included in mainstream education provision? A critical analysis. *International Educational Studies*, 2(4), 154-161. doi: 10.5539/ies.v2n4p154
- Wilson, E., & Bedford, D. (2008). "New partnerships for learning": Teachers and teaching assistants working together in schools--the way forward. *Journal of Education for Teaching: International Research and Pedagogy, 34*, 137-150. doi: 10.1080/02607470801979574
- Winzer, M., & Mazurek, K. (2011). Canadian teachers' associations and the inclusive movement for students with special needs. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*, 116, 1-24. Retrieved from http://www.umanitoba.ca/publications/cjeap/archives.html#2011
- Weick, K. (1976). Educational organizations as loosely coupled systems. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 2, 1-19. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=EJ134531
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2014). In Health topics. Retrieved May 07, 2015 from http://www.who.int/topics/disabilities/en/
- Zajonc, R. B. (2001). Mere exposure: A gateway to the subliminal. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10, 224-228. doi:10.1111/1467-8721.00154

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire

Appendix B: Guiding Interview Questions

Appendix C: Letter of Consent

Appendix D: Letter of Information

Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire		
Q1: What is your <u>age</u> ? [write on line provided] → years old		
Q2: What is your gender? [write on line provided] >		
Q3: Do you, a close friend, or a family member have a disability? [circle one answer]		
A) No (go to Q4)		
B) Yes		
↓		
i) What is your relation to this person (e.g., close friend, sibling, etc.)?		
Q4: What Educational Support <u>program</u> are you in? [circle one answer]		
A) 2-year program Educational Support program		
B) 1-year (fast track intensive) Educational Support program		
Q5: What is your highest level of education? [circle one answer]		
A) I have some college education		
B) I have <u>completed</u> a college program and have earned a <u>certificate or diploma</u>		
C) I have some university education		
D) I have <u>completed</u> a university undergraduate <u>degree</u>		
E) Other (e.g., Masters, Ph.D., etc.) [please specify]:		
Q6: Please list any other <u>professional development</u> or <u>training certificates</u> you have		

obtained (e.g., PECS training, BMS training, etc.).

1	
2	
3	
4	
5	
Q7: My placement experiences in the Educational Support	rt program have been
[circle all that apply]	
A)in a general education classroom supporting students w	ith special education needs
B)in a separate or self-contained class supporting students	with special education
needs	
C) Other [please specify]:	
C) Other [please specify]:	
Q8: Please list any other experiences you have related to this	
Q8: Please list any other experiences you have related to this 1	
Q8: Please list any other experiences you have related to this 1	

Appendix B: Guiding Interview Questions

1) How do you personally define 'educational inclusion'?

Potential prompt: How did you develop this understanding? What did you learn about inclusion in the educational support program?

2) Can you please tell me about your attitudes toward educational inclusion?

Potential prompts: Do you think it is good or bad? Why? Should all students with identified exceptionalities be included in the general education class? Why or why not? How would this work? Is it possible?

3) Who and what in your life do you think have influenced your attitudes toward inclusion?

Potential prompts: What role has the ES program played in this? What did you learn about inclusion in the educational support program? What other experiences have influenced your attitudes?

4) What do you think is needed for inclusion to be successful?

Potential prompts: Have you had an opportunity to learn, observe, or implement any of these ideas? Why do you think these things are so important?

5) What do you feel are some barriers to inclusion?

Potential prompts: Why do you think that this is a barrier? How might this barrier be overcome? What role might an EA play in this?

6) In an ideal world (without these barriers), what would inclusion look like?

Potential prompts: Do you think this is possible to obtain? Why or why not?

7) Is there anything else you would like to share regarding your personal attitudes toward inclusionary education?

Potential prompts: Ask about anything not discussed indicated on demographic question (e.g., family member with disability). Why did they choose the ES program? What other life events have led you to choose this profession? Any plans after graduation?

Other prompts to consider throughout:

Can you give me an example of a time when this occurred?

What did you do (behavioural component of attitude)?

What did you think/believe about that (cognitive component of attitude)?

How did that make you feel (affective component of attitude)?

Appendix C: Letter of Consent

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

Title of Study: Pre-service educational assistants' attitudes towards inclusion

You are asked to participate in a research study conducted by John Freer, Masters Student at the University of Windsor. The results of this research will contribute to his Master's thesis.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to gain insight into pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. Specifically, the research is interested in answering the question—what are final year Educational Support (ES) students' attitudes toward inclusion?

PROCEDURES

If you volunteer to participate in this study, you will be asked to:

Participate in an interview and complete a demographic questionnaire. The demographic questionnaire will take about ten minutes to complete. The interview will take approximately an hour and twenty minutes (total time: 1.5 hours). For the purposes of clarification, the researcher may contact you after the initial interview. You will also be contacted to ensure the accuracy of the transcribed interviews—a process referred to as member checking.

The interviews will be semi-structured. Semi-structured interviews are interviews that are guided by a set of open-ended questions. The interviewer will ask you questions and you will respond. This should result in a conversation that is guided by the questions, rather than a simple question and answer session.

All interviews will be audio recorded. Please see the audio-recording consent form. The researcher intends to capture the essence of your experience and thus will transcribe the interviews word-for-word while taking anecdotal notes on gestures, facial expressions, tone of voice, etc.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

This study presents low risk to you as a participant. Should you choose to participate, you will give informed consent, have the right to withdraw from the study at anytime before member checking, and will be given access to the results of the study.

You will be asked to discuss your attitudes toward educational inclusion. Due to the semi-structured nature of the interviews, you can expand upon questions and discuss your own personal experiences. These discussions may cause some feelings of discomfort if you have had a negative experience with special education services (e.g., yourself, your children, etc.).

You will be reminded of your right to withdraw verbally at each point of contact. In addition, you will be reminded verbally that responses will be kept confidential, will not be judged, and in no way will this impact your academic, professional, or personal lives.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO PARTICIPANTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

The findings of this study will have important implications for those involved. You will be asked to reflect upon your own attitudes towards inclusive education. Engaging in this meta-cognitive activity will allow you to better understand yourself, your attitudes, and how this may influence your praxis as an EA. After participating, you may be able to better assert your educational philosophy and this may influence your pedagogical techniques. This study will help the researcher to ascertain a greater understanding of preservice EAs attitudes towards inclusionary education and the role Ontario ES programs play in shaping these attitudes. The way in which pre-service EAs view themselves personally, academically, and professionally may profoundly impact their attitudes towards inclusion and consequently may shape the

future of special education implementation.

COMPENSATION FOR PARTICIPATION

There will be no compensation for participation.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission. The audio recording of the interview will be deleted after transcription and pseudonyms (i.e., fake names) will be used to identify all participants. In addition, you will be reminded verbally prior to the start of the interview that your responses will remain confidential and will not be judged. All data on this study will be stored on a password-protected laptop with no identifying information. Copies of the demographic questionnaire and interview transcriptions will be stored in a locked filing cabinet and will not be identifiable by your real name. After member checking, your personal contact information will be shredded.

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

You have the right to withdraw from the study at any point during encounters with the researcher. You can retrospectively withdraw from the study up until you have approved the transcripts of the interview. The investigator may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

FEEDBACK OF THE RESULTS OF THIS STUDY TO THE PARTICIPANTS

The researcher will email a link to the published study after it's completion (Summer or Fall 2015) with a reader friendly summary attached.

SUBSEQUENT USE OF DATA

These data may be used in subsequent studies, in publications, and in presentations.

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

If you have questions regarding your rights as a research participant, contact: Research Ethics Coordinator, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, N9B 3P4; Telephone: 519-253-3000, ext. 3948; e-mail: ethics@uwindsor.ca.

If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please feel to contact John Freer via email at reeri@uwindsor.ca.

SIGNATURE OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANT/LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

I understand the information provided for the study: **Pre-service educational assistants' attitudes toward inclusion** as described herein. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction, and I agree to participate in this study. I have been given a copy of this form.

Name of Participant	
Signature of Participant	Date
SIGNATURE OF INVESTIGATOR	
These are the terms under which I will conduct research.	
Signature of Investigator	 Date

Appendix D: Letter of Information

LETTER OF INFORMATION FOR CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

Title of Study: Pre-service educational assistants' attitudes towards inclusion

You are asked to participate in a research study conducted by John Freer, Masters Student at the University of Windsor. The results of this research will contribute to his Master's thesis.

If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please feel to contact John Freer via email at freeri@uwindsor.ca.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to gain insight into pre-service EAs' attitudes toward inclusion. Specifically, the research is interested in answering the question—what are final year Educational Support (ES) students' attitudes toward inclusion?

PROCEDURES

If you volunteer to participate in this study, you will be asked to:

Participate in an interview and complete a demographic questionnaire. The demographic questionnaire will take about ten minutes to complete. The interview will take approximately an hour and twenty minutes (total time: 1.5 hours). For the purposes of clarification, the researcher may contact you after the initial interview. You will also be contacted to ensure the accuracy of the transcribed interviews—a process referred to as member checking.

The interviews will be semi-structured. Semi-structured interviews are interviews that are guided by a set of open-ended questions. The interviewer will ask you questions and you will respond. This should result in a conversation that is guided by the questions, rather than a simple question and answer session.

All interviews will be audio recorded. Please see the audio-recording consent form. The researcher intends to capture the essence of your experience and thus will transcribe the interviews word-for-word while taking anecdotal notes on gestures, facial expressions, tone of voice, etc.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

This study presents low risk to you as a participant. Should you choose to participate, you will give informed consent, have the right to withdraw from the study at anytime before member checking, and will be given access to the results of the study.

You will be asked to discuss your attitudes toward educational inclusion. Due to the semi-structured nature of the interviews, you can expand upon questions and discuss your own personal experiences. These discussions may cause some feelings of discomfort if you have had a negative experience with special education (e.g., yourself, your children, etc.).

You will be reminded of your right to withdraw verbally at each point of contact. In addition, you will be reminded verbally that responses will be kept confidential, will not be judged, and in no way will this impact your academic, professional, or personal lives.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO PARTICIPANTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

The findings of this study will have important implications for those involved. You will be asked to reflect upon your own attitudes towards inclusive education. Engaging in this meta-cognitive activity will allow you

to better understand yourself, your attitudes, and how this may influence your praxis as an EA. After participating, you may be able to better assert your educational philosophy and this may influence your pedagogical techniques. This study will help the researcher to ascertain a greater understanding of preservice EAs attitudes towards inclusionary education and the role Ontario ES programs play in shaping these attitudes. The way in which pre-service EAs view themselves personally, academically, and professionally may profoundly impact their attitudes towards inclusion and consequently may shape the future of special education implementation

COMPENSATION FOR PARTICIPATION

There will be no compensation for participation.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission. The audio recording of the interview will be deleted after transcription and pseudonyms (i.e., fake names) will be used to identify all participants. In addition, you will be reminded verbally prior to the start of the interview that your responses will remain confidential and will not be judged. All data on this study will be stored on a password-protected laptop with no identifying information. Copies of the demographic questionnaire and interview transcriptions will be stored in a locked filing cabinet and will not be identifiable by your real name. After member checking, your personal contact information will be shredded.

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

You have the right to withdraw from the study at any point during encounters with the researcher. You can retrospectively withdraw from the study up until you have approved the transcripts of the interview. The investigator may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

FEEDBACK OF THE RESULTS OF THIS STUDY TO THE PARTICIPANTS

The researcher will email a link to the published study after it's completion (Summer or Fall 2015) with a reader friendly summary attached.

SUBSEQUENT USE OF DATA

These data may be used in subsequent studies, in publications, and in presentations.

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

If you have questions regarding your rights as a research participant, contact: Research Ethics Coordinator, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, N9B 3P4; Telephone: 519-253-3000, ext. 3948; e-mail: ethics@uwindsor.ca.

SIGNATURE OF INVESTIGATOR These are the terms under which I will conduct research. Signature of Investigator Date

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME: John Freer

PLACE OF BIRTH: Windsor, ON

YEAR OF BIRTH: 1989

EDUCATION: St. Thomas of Villanova Catholic High School,

Windsor, ON, 2007

St. Clair College of Applied Arts and

Technologies, Educational Assistant (Ontario

College Diploma), Windsor, ON, 2009

University of Windsor, [H] BA., Windsor, ON,

2012

University of Windsor, B. Ed., Windsor, ON,

2013

University of Windsor, M. Ed., Windsor, ON,

2015